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Thursday, April 16th, 2009

--- On commencing at 9:35 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  This is the continuation of EB-2008-0106.  We are convened this morning to hear the evidence of the Gas Marketer Group.  Are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:

MR. SMITH:  One preliminary matter, Mr. Chair, just to advise that Union Gas has provided this morning answers to undertakings given to the Canadian Marketers -- sorry, Manufacturers & Exporters Association and to Board counsel, being J1.1 and J1.2.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Panel has those.  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Anything else of a preliminary nature?

Mr. Hoaken.

MR. HOAKEN:  Thank you.  Good morning.  I will start just by asking the Board to note that I'm accompanied by my colleague Mr. Forster this morning, but also by Ms. Judy Wasney of Superior Energy Management.  I thought what I might do, Mr. Chair, is just outline our plan for proceeding today.

We thought that we would start by a brief introduction of our three-member panel and have them adopt the prefiled evidence.

We then thought we would proceed to an opening statement.  And I know that my friends for Enbridge and Union made the opening statement on behalf of their clients, and what we are proposing this morning is for the witness panel for the GMG to make a brief opening statement just to summarize the views and perspectives of that group.

I would also note - and you have seen on your desk, perhaps - we have prepared a version of the appendix that was included both by Enbridge and Union in their evidence, and you will note that what we've done is we've added a column in the far -- the far side of the page that summarizes the position of the GMG on each of the issues, and we thought that might be of assistance to the Board and to parties and their counsel as we go through the points that are before the Board in this hearing.

So I am asking, if I may, Mr. Chair, that that be marked as an exhibit.

MR. MUKHERJI:  K3.1.
Exhibit No. K3.1:  Summary of issues prepared by GMG.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I take it all of the parties have this document, Mr. Hoaken?

MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.  We have certainly made every effort to hand it out.  We have some extra ones here if anyone doesn't have one.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
Procedural Matters:

MR. HOAKEN:  Just before we start, as I have suggested, could I just deal with two housekeeping matters?

There is a small correction that needs to be made in the prefiled evidence of the Gas Marketer Group, so if I could ask everyone to turn that up?  It is on page 17, Mr. Chair.  That's Exhibit E8, E14 and E19.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is this 17 of 33?

MR. HOAKEN:  Seventeen of 31, Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What is the correction?

MR. HOAKEN:  It is on table 7, and in the column on the left-hand side under "Reference Price", the very bottom entry says, "RP variance greater than $2.00 a gJ".  That is a typographical error and that should be $3.00 a gJ.

Thank you.  The second item is not a correction of evidence, but a mea culpa on my part.  I am advised I misspoke in asking questions of the Union panel.  If we turn to volume 1 of the transcript, it is page 38 of that transcript, Mr. Chair.


You will see, starting at line 21, I asked a question about prorations, and the premise of my question was that there were four to six prorations in Alberta.  I am advised that that is incorrect, that there are actually 12 prorations in Alberta.

And I am advised, further, that for a customer both on electricity and gas, there would in fact be a total of 24 prorations per year.  So I apologize for that error in my question.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. HOAKEN:  So on that basis, Mr. Chair, I will briefly introduce the three members of the panel.  We will have them sworn, and then I can more fully introduce them to the Board.  Starting at the far end of the dais is James MacIntosh, in the middle is Mr. Gary Newcombe and at the left-hand end is Nola Ruzycki.  So on that basis, I would ask them to come forward and be sworn, Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Hoaken.
GAS MARKETER GROUP - PANEL 1

James McIntosh, Sworn


Gary Newcombe, Sworn


Nola Ruzycki, Sworn
Examination by Mr. Hoaken:

MR. HOAKEN:  All right, thank you.  I will just remind the Board and all parties and their counsel that there is a brief summary of the qualifications and experience of the panel members that is found in the interrogatory responses of the GMG.  It is Exhibit IR 2, Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. HOAKEN:  Let me start, if I may, with you, Mr. McIntosh.

You are, as I understand it, the director of regulated gas supply for Direct Energy Marketing?

MR. McINTOSH:  That is correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  And you have a BA in economics from the University of Calgary?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  Prior to joining Direct Energy, as I understand it you worked for approximately 15 years in the energy sector for a variety of companies, including Williams Energy Canada and PanCanadian Petroleum, which is now part of EnCana?


MR. McINTOSH:  That's correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  You worked in a number of roles, including gas trading and origination?

MR. McINTOSH:  That's correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  And as I understand it, now, as director of regulated gas supply, you are responsible for all gas procurement on behalf of the regulated gas supplier in Alberta?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  And this involves or requires the purchase of approximately $1 billion worth of gas per year?

MR. McINTOSH:  Again, correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  You have also been involved in a regulatory support role for Direct Energy regulated services; is that correct?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  And that has involved taking part in the various filings that are made by that company to the Alberta -- is it the Alberta Energy Commission?

MR. McINTOSH:  Utilities Commission.

MR. HOAKEN:  Utilities Commission.

MR. McINTOSH:  That is correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you.  If I could ask you -- you are going to speak, as I understand it, about the Gas Marketer Group's views or position on QRAM; is that correct?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you.  Could you just give us your brief outline or comments on that issue?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes, certainly.  Thank you, Mr. Hoaken.

First off, the Gas Marketer Group would like to thank the Board for the opportunity to appear today.  We would note that the thoughts prepared in our evidence were done in light of the objectives outlined with the OEB Board rules.

And as we were going through the various modules of the Gas Forum, we understand we're -- we will try to restrict our comments today, as much as possible, to the QRAM proceeding in question today.  But we would highlight the linkages between the long-term contract and the storage and transportation, and the interrelationship of all of them.

We believe there's been some significant evolution in the Ontario marketplace and the Gas Forum that is being held today is a timely one.

As the Gas Marketer Group, we operate in many jurisdictions, so we have tried to find what works and what doesn't work and offer our thoughts and comments in that regard to this Board today.

Hopefully, we will offer some alternative thoughts during the proceeding that could potentially simplify the price-setting mechanism, and hopefully could offer some streamlining in the regulatory process for the customers in Ontario.  Thank you.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right, thank you.  Could I then ask you to look, Mr. McIntosh, at Exhibit 3.1, which we marked this morning?  And perhaps what would be of assistance is if you could just very quickly take us through the GMG's views or position on the items that fall under A, which is QRAM?


So if we start, for example, with trigger mechanism, if we go over to the right-hand side of the page, we see that the GMG is advocating no trigger.  Could you just briefly speak to that?


MR. McINTOSH:  Certainly.  We will start with what I think we have agreement on and that is the no trigger mechanism, as you point out.


Moving down that list, we, as shown in our evidence, are advocating a monthly rate adjustment on line 2 there with regards to match the utility buying protocol.  This is one of the changes that we think has evolved in the gas market in Ontario, where now the utilities are mandated to buy monthly.  We coined it all short term.  In years past there had been some term hedging practices.  We believe that that is an important element in the evidence that we will review today.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you, moving to the third item then on the list, the calculation, the reference price.  Could you speak to that item?


MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.  We are proposing a very mechanistic transparent calculation and something that is more reflective of the shorter-term market price.  And also closer to the actual flow of the gas, to match the costs reasonably expected to be incurred by the utilities and ultimately customers.


Moving on to number 4, the GMG is advocating a monthly clear of any deferral to match the forecasting period.  So in our example, a monthly clear with a monthly price set.


Number 5, we believe that changes in revenue -- we'll develop these over the course of the day, of course, Mr. Hoaken, but changes in revenue requirement should be reflective in the change in the reference price.


Number 6.  Again, and this is a theme which we will touch on over the course of the day is the mechanistic approach that we are advocating, so transparent mechanical rates costs to be recovered through distribution rates.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Then finally filing requirements, this is something you are familiar with, I take it, in the Alberta market.  Could you speak to it in this context?


MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.  Very much so.  There is certainly, once the processes were established with stakeholders and the regulator in that jurisdiction, the filing requirements became very, again, mechanical but very formulaic.  And very much a reporting of prices.  Not for the upcoming flow month.  So we will touch on that over the course of the day.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you.  Do you have anything else to add by way of introductory comments, Mr. McIntosh?


MR. McINTOSH:  Only to add that what we will try to do is, going back to the Board direction with regards to mitigation of deferrals and monthly price setting, we want to try to develop the thoughts and hopefully help the understanding of the Board in this matter.


MR. HOAKEN:  Thank you.  Let me skip over you, Mr. Newcombe and start -- and go next to you, Ms. Ruzycki.


You are the director of regulatory affairs for the Energy Savings Group.

MS. RUZYCKI:  That's correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  I take it that Ontario Energy Savings, which is the entity that is part of the Gas Marketer Group, is part of the Energy Savings Group.

MS. RUZYCKI:  It is.

MR. HOAKEN:  You hold a bachelor of commerce from the University of Calgary.

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  You have been at Energy Savings for just over four years?


MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  Prior to that, as I understand it, you worked for a variety of companies in the energy sector in Canada?


MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  And in your current role, you are responsible for the implementation and ongoing administration of regulatory oversight in a number of Canadian jurisdictions including Ontario?


MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And as I understand it, you are going to speak about load balancing?


MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you.


MS. RUZYCKI:  Thank you.  With respect to the load balancing, the Gas Marketing Group supports Enbridge's proposal to come more in line with Union's by using weather-normalized consumption data and implementing mean daily MDV re-establishment during the contract term.  We also recommend that EGD introduces multi-point balancing.  I would like to just take a quick moment to explain why the MDV re-establishment is so important, not only to marketers but to the utility as well.


Enbridge locks in the MDV for supply requirement with the marketer 30 days prior to the start date of the pool.  The MDV is established only once during the year, and it remains in effect for the full year.  The MDV is the requirement of the supply that the marketer must bring in for its group of customers for the year period.


Now, what happened with the introduction of the Gas Distribution Access Rule on June 1st, 2007, is that customers were now able to move from one vendor to another directly, instead of moving back to system supply.  So this has created an issue where customers are –- sorry, marketers are now bringing in additional supply for a customer they no longer have because that customer is with another marketer.


What this does is that it creates an excess supply position in inventory so the banked gas account which we heard of here during the past couple of weeks, that's the amount of gas that is received versus the amount of gas that is consumed, is different.  This creates a build-up in the account.  It also creates a financial implication for the marketer.


Enbridge right now, they set the inventory, they also have the obligation to the vendor for the excess supply deliveries, and we found that the timing and the volume of when we can get that supply back can be very difficult, given the tools that are available.


So we are looking to have the MDV re-established so that the correct amount of supply is being brought in by the marketers and that the excess supply position does not exist.


There are also financial implications for the utility as it must deal with the unnecessary inventory position that's been built.  There is also duplicate transportation that may be required to move the gas to the market, and storage may be necessary to accommodate the excess inventory.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you very much.


Let me then just ask you, is there anything else you want to add on load balancing or...

MS. RUZYCKI:  Just possibly as for Union we're not looking, in this proceeding, to change anything with their process.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you.  That is reflected on Exhibit 3.1, then?


MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes, it is.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you.  So let me come to you, Mr. Newcombe.


You are the vice president of government and regulatory affairs for Direct Energy Marketing Limited.

MR. NEWCOMBE: Yes, sir.

MR. HOAKEN:  You have a bachelor of science and civil engineering from the University of Alberta and are a registered professional engineer.

MR. NEWCOMBE: Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  As I understand it, prior to joining Direct Energy, you worked for the ATCO group of companies for approximately 20 years; is that correct?


MR. NEWCOMBE: Yes, that's correct.  I worked for the regulated distributor and pipeline company there, yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  That's what I was going to ask you.  You are currently, as I understand it, responsible for all aspects of Direct Energy's regulatory and compliance activities, as well as governmental relations in Canada?


MR. NEWCOMBE: That's correct, yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you.


So if I could ask you to look at Exhibit 3.1, Mr. Newcombe.  We see item C is cost allocation, and we see in the right-hand column the GMG proposal is "no change."

Do you have anything to add or say about that?


MR. NEWCOMBE: Yes, I do.  On the issue of cost allocation, I believe that the gas marketer group is in agreement with the utilities, the status quo approach is fine.  Any changes to cost allocation principles should be the purview of the OEB.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you.  I am going to ask you to comment on the other two items, but I think just before I do that, I should ask you if you've got any general comments of an introductory nature you would like to make?


MR. NEWCOMBE: Yes, I do.  Thank you.


So I would just like to say that we're here in an attempt to assist the Board in their deliberations respecting the issues they have identified as being of interest in this proceeding.


I would say approximately 40 percent of Ontario customers and about 50 percent of Ontario volumes are provided or served by market participants other than the Ontario utilities.  And on that basis, we - and we believe others - are impacted by and we hope can have some impact on the market structure and design issues the Board is examining in this process.


What we believe we provided through our evidence and our IR responses are some reasonable alternative approaches for the Board to consider.  And while we're not dogmatic about any of our proposals, we also bring our overall experience in energy markets, our direct experience from other jurisdictions respecting what works, what works well, what doesn't work.  We also make available to the Board our knowledge and experience in the operation of regulated distribution and retail utilities.


I won't deny that we have a commercial interest in this proceeding, and I expect most people here do.


I will say, however, that we firmly believe in competitive markets and the benefit that those markets bring to consumers.  We are of the view that the Ontario government also believes in the competitive retail energy market.  I mean, this gas market has been open for something in the order of 24 years.


We've seen no indication that the government intends to reverse any of the progress that's been made.  And, in fact, for me, the existence of this proceeding tells us that there is interest in continuing to enable the retail energy market.

If one believes that a competitive retail energy market remains government policy, then I think the monthly regulated rate adjustment has a certain appeal and purity to it.  It provides for immediacy and clarity of price signals, reflecting underlying commodity costs.  It doesn't require any exit/entry fees or payments when customers come and go from regulated supply.  It doesn't require notice periods.


There are no long-lasting deferral account adjustments, and there is no intergenerational inequities introduced.

In short, what it does is free up consumers to exercise choice.  I think also equally as important, it does not impose either the utilities' or the regulators' views on risk tolerance, the value of risk avoidance and the costs associated with that risk avoidance, or market views on consumers.  It allows consumers to make those decisions themselves.

So, thank you.  That is all I had to say.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right, thank you.  Let me just finish off by asking you to speak very briefly to items D and E, then, on Exhibit 3.1.  Under billing terminology, there is a reference to the GMG proposal being harmonized terminology.

Anything to add on that, Mr. Newcombe?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  I take it the key word there was "briefly".  Yes.  We believe the billing terminology should be harmonized.  Our view is that the Union bill provides a good template for that harmonization.

We think it should be relatively straightforward and easy.  I mean, in Ontario here, you have I think in the order of 85 electricity LDCs who have managed to harmonize their billing terminology.  So getting three gas utilities to do the same should not be a monumental task.

We believe it would be beneficial for consumers in understanding any media, government and OEB communications and educational programs.  It should also be seen, I think, as beneficial to the utilities.  I mean, it could potentially lower their costs in responding to customer confusion when customers move across franchise boundaries.

We also believe that billing terminology harmonization could be implemented quickly, easily and we expect at minimal cost.

MR. HOAKEN:  Thank you.  And then finally implementation issues, Mr. Newcombe?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Implementation issues?

I think our position here is straightforward.  I think accompanying the Board's ruling in this proceeding should be laying out of a process for a collaborative to deal with implementation of any required changes.  I think also prudent costs should flow through the utility's distribution rates, and we're of the view that any of the changes or proposals being evaluated here could reasonably be capable of fairly quick implementation, potentially by November 1 of this year or some other time that works.  Thank you.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right, thank you.  That concludes the presentation by the witness panel, and they are now available for cross-examination, Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Have you decided on an order, Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  I think I may be first up, sir, if that is suitable.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I got that impression.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Cass:

MR. CASS:  Panel, am I right in thinking that the Gas Marketer Group consists of Direct Energy Marketing, Ontario Energy Savings LP and Superior Energy Management?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  That's correct, sir.

MR. CASS:  And, Mr. Newcombe, you are from Direct Energy?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes, I am.

MR. CASS:  Mr. McIntosh, you are from Direct Energy?

MR. McINTOSH:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  Ms. Ruzycki, you are from Ontario Energy Savings?

MS. RUZYCKI:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  There is no one on the panel from Superior Energy Management?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  No, there isn't anyone on the witness panel, sir.  All three of the entities were very, very engaged in the preparation of the evidence, the information responses.  Just the scheduling and priorities did not allow anyone from Superior to accompany us on the panel.

MR. CASS:  But someone from Superior is here today?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Now, I did notice, or perhaps I just overlooked it, but I did notice that there didn't seem to be any questions to have the evidence, the written evidence, adopted by the witnesses, so maybe I can just confirm that with you.

As you would know, there is some written evidence in this proceeding, your prefiled evidence, your answers to interrogatories.  Can I take it that that evidence is adopted at least by the people on the witness stand?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you.  What about Superior Energy Management?  Does --

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  I would just add, if I may, I think as my friend knows, at the beginning of these proceedings a letter was filed, I believe, that attested to the participation of Superior in the Gas Marketer Group, and I think there was an express statement in that letter, which I can find if need be, saying that that company certainly adopted and agreed with the contents of the evidence submission of the Gas Marketer Group.

MR. CASS:  Right.  But, Mr. Hoaken, through the Board to you, the usual protocol is to have a witness adopt the evidence under oath, and so, in the absence of a Superior Energy witness on the panel, I am just trying to figure out what we should take from that, in terms of the adoption of the evidence.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I guess the Board can draw whatever conclusions -- you are free to argue, Mr. Cass, that the Board ought not to ascribe some level of weight to the evidence.  The Board is familiar with the letter that came in from Superior, I think about two weeks ago, something like that, that did purport to adopt as evidence the evidence of the others.

So you are free to argue that point in your submissions.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.

If I could ask the panel to turn to Exhibit K3.1 that was marked this morning?  I am going to ask you to do something for me, and I suspect that it will probably be most easily accomplished by undertaking, but if you would prefer to do it in another fashion, that is just fine.

What I am hoping that you could do is help me out with the new column that has been added to the right-hand side of Exhibit K3.1.

Could you please, for me, with respect to each of the items in the new column at the right-hand side of Exhibit K3.1, provide the evidentiary reference from the Gas Marketer Group prefiled evidence where we can find the evidence behind each of these items?  Is that something that you could do possibly by way of an undertaking response?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  That's probably the most efficient, yes, sir.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  We will do that.

MR. CASS:  Again, it would be going back to the original prefiled evidence, if you could do that for me, please?

MR. MUKHERJI:  That will be undertaking J3.1.
Undertaking J3.1:  To provide the evidentiary reference from the Gas Marketer Group prefiled evidence with respect to each ITEM in the new column at the right-hand side of Exhibit K3.1.

MR. HOAKEN:  If I might clarify that undertaking so we don't embark upon a task that you are not asking, you don't want any reference to interrogatory responses, simply the prefiled evidence?

MR. CASS:  Well, if it is in the prefiled, that is all I need.  Then, again, it is just the reference.  I don't need any wording or anything like that.  If there is something that is not in prefiled and we have to look at the interrogatory responses to find it, well, then that would be fine, as well, to see that.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I take it you are asking for both to be reflected.  If it's not reflected in the prefiled, then the interrogatory response that does refer to it; otherwise, just the prefiled?

MR. CASS:  That's correct, sir.  If there is something in the prefiled, I don't need every interrogatory response that mentions it.  Thank you.

Mr. Newcombe, I understand that you gave evidence in a case in Manitoba where the Manitoba PUB was considering a monthly adjustment process.  Am I right in that?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  If you are referring to the 2007 market review in Manitoba, yes.  I gave evidence there.

To the best of my recollection, there was no consideration of going to -- the Board or the utility was not considering going to monthly.

The thrust of that process was whether the regulated utility should be in the business of procuring and offering directly to retail customers fixed price long-term contracts.

MR. CASS:  All right.  We will come to a little more detail in a minute.  I just wanted to confirm, in fact, that you gave evidence there.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Ms. Ruzycki, same with you, you gave evidence in that same proceeding, did you?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. CASS:  And then perhaps this comes back to what you were just discussing, Mr. Newcombe.  Am I not correct in thinking that in that proceeding the Manitoba PUB decided to maintain its quarterly rate-setting window?


MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.  And that was one of the outcomes of that hearing as well, as I said before, the entry of the utility into the term fixed price market.


MR. CASS:  All right.  I see you are looking at something there and perhaps this would be an appropriate time, then.  I sent out electronically to Mr. Hoaken and to the other parties the complete decision, Mr. Chair, but it is in excess of 100 pages.  So I thought that for the record, I would bring portions of it that I have put together in just a small package, if we could perhaps pass that around.


I don't have the entire decision because it is quite large.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.  But we do have the coordinates for the entire decision, I take it, and you wanted to enter as an exhibit excerpts?


MR. CASS:  That's correct.  I will, once it is passed around I will explain what is in the little package.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you have any problem with that, Mr. Hoaken?


MR. HOAKEN:  No, I don't.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


[Mr. Mukherji passes out documents]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks.


MR. CASS:  Just before it is marked as an exhibit, Mr. Chair, I’ll explain what I've done.


I have included the title page, the table of contents and to give some context, the executive summary.  I have also included a couple of pages from the appendices at the end of the decision just showing the witnesses, parties and so on.


Then in addition to that, I have included pages, some 77 and 78 of the decision, which are the ones that cover the subject that I have been discussing with Mr. Newcombe.  So that is what is in the package.  The entirety of the decision is 108 pages and again it has been distributed electronically.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. MUKHERJI:  K3.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  DECISION, Manitoba Public Utilities Board, Order 160/07, December 18, 2007

MR. CASS:  So what I was discussing with you, Mr. Newcombe, is, I believe, at page 78 of Exhibit K3.2.


MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes, sir, I have that.

MR. CASS:  This is where, as I understand the decision, the Board decided it would maintain its quarterly rate-setting window.  Do you see that, about in the middle of the page?


MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes, sir.


MR. CASS:  Page 78.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes, sir.

MR. CASS:  The Board's reason was it did not want to introduce additional regulatory costs and increase rate volatility by resetting rates on a monthly basis; right?


MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes, I see that.


MR. CASS:  All right.  I think the decision stands for itself.  We don't need to go through the wording.  I just want to confirm a couple of other things with you, since you were involved in the proceeding.


As I understand it, in this decision, the Board is looking to a ruling that the BCUC had made, the British Columbia Utilities Commission had made.  Am I right on that as well?


MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.  I think they quoted part of a commission letter there, at the bottom of page 78.


MR. CASS:  Right.  Thank you.  Am I right in thinking that the BCUC had also decided in favour of quarterly rather than monthly adjustments?


MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.  I think you have to look at the context.  That BCUC letter was written back in 2001, so there was no open competitive retail market at the time.  If there's only one choice and you're working on flow-through gas, it probably doesn't matter how often you reset the rates.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well of course we can argue about these things.  That's useful.  Thank you.  But you would agree with me that the reasoning of the BCUC for a quarterly process is at the bottom, really the last sentence on page 78, isn't it?  This is why the British Columbia Commission decided that a quarterly process was appropriate in the last sentence on page 78?


MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes, that's -- they gave their reasons there.  You know, just above that, they also talked about the fact that, you know, more frequent process would perhaps or in their belief would probably reduce the size of the required changes, but they elected to stay or go to the quarterly.


MR. CASS:  Right.  And their reasons include things like less onerous administratively, helped to reduce the size of required rate changes and so on; right?


MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.  But I think, too, it is important to keep it in context, there was no open competitive market for retail natural gas in British Columbia at that time.


MR. CASS:  I understand.  Thank you.  And in Ontario, of course, customers have a choice between competitive options and the default system gas option; right?


MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes, they do.


MR. CASS:  And would you agree with me that this Board, the Ontario Energy Board, should not make a decision that causes system gas simply to become unattractive to send people off of system gas to the other alternatives?


MR. NEWCOMBE:  I think what this Board needs to do is to look at this matter very carefully, consider the overall context of what it is they're doing, and the fact that, you are right, there is open competitive choice for gas here.


You know, just while we're on this decision, I don't know that the Ontario Board would want to take a whole lot of direction from what's being done in Manitoba.  I think if you look at the overall context of this decision and the ultimate findings, the Manitoba Board directed the utility to enter into the retail market by offering fixed term, one- to five-year contracts.


I mean, that to me seems to go directly contrary to the way the Ontario Energy Board has gone and the things that have come out of the Gas Forum when they have gone away from the long-term fixed contracts.  So you know, I don't disagree with your sort of premise, that yes, you don't want to make it so unattractive nobody wants it, but I don't think that's the -- what's at issue here.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, I wasn't -- sorry if I misled you into thinking the question had anything to do at all with the Manitoba decision.  The question was just to confirm your view and the view of this panel, in fact, that it would not be appropriate for this Board, the Ontario Energy Board, to do something simply to make system gas so unattractive that people would move off of system gas.


MR. NEWCOMBE:  No.  I don't think that should be one of the criteria that the Board uses for their decision-making as a relative attractiveness or unattractiveness of any of the offerings, no.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Would you agree with me that too much price volatility does make system gas unattractive to customers?


MR. NEWCOMBE:  I don't know if I would agree with that.  I mean, I think volatility is simply a reflection or an expression of the underlying volatility in the commodity itself.


I think, when you are considering things like that, you have to look at a whole bunch of issues.  I mean, what is the government's policy, what is the thinking on the, you know, the currentness, the preciseness of the price signal that consumers are intended to get.  There are probably a whole bunch of different criteria they should look at when they're examining those things, just to say, Well, no, we don't want volatility, that's bad, no, I don't think so.


MR. McINTOSH:  I would add, excuse me, I would add that price volatility does not necessarily equate to the change in frequency of the rates you charge customers.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, my question was simply whether too much price volatility makes the system gas alternative unattractive to customers.  So are you saying to me then there is no limit to the amount of volatility that could be introduced into the method of setting system gas prices and it would not matter to customers at all.  Is that what you're saying, there is no limit to it?


MR. McINTOSH:  I don't believe we're suggesting that.  There are, there's certainly -- there are other jurisdictions that have chosen a monthly price setting, with I seems to align with the billing and retail function that, an example would be of the Ohio marketplace where it was deemed that the monthly price-setting mechanism gives it appropriate price signals with regards to what is an appropriate market signal for customers.

MR. CASS:  But you have agreed with me that it is not correct to think that there is no limit on the amount of volatility that customers would be prepared to put up with.


MR. McINTOSH:  Well, I guess it's unclear how you define sort of unlimited or infinite volatility.  If we look at our experience in Alberta, for instance, we’ve been on monthly gas pricing since 2002.  Yes, there has been month-to-month volatility, and that’s exacerbated by the existence of deferral accounts, but it hasn't driven customers en masse running to fixed price offerings.

I mean, you know, there has been a steady take-up over that time, and since the 2002/2003 time period, I think in Alberta we're -- about 25 percent of residential customers have opted for something other than default supply, but it hasn't led to a mass exodus.

MR. CASS:  What I am suggesting to you, essentially, is volatility should be a relevant consideration for this Board.  Are you suggesting this Board should just ignore it, then?  Is that what you're saying?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  No.  I don't believe we've said that, but there are a whole range of considerations.

MR. CASS:  I agree with that.  But volatility is one of them, isn't it?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  So, in this case, the Gas Marketer Group made a monthly adjustment in its prefiled evidence; correct?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  And the proposal was modelled on the experience in Alberta; correct?

MR. McINTOSH:  It was an example that was used, of which I am quite intimate with.

MR. CASS:  You didn't like me suggesting it was modelled on the experience in Alberta?

MR. McINTOSH:  It was modelled on the experience in Alberta.

MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.  There wasn't anything -- any hidden trick in the question.

But in Alberta, am I right in thinking that Direct Energy regulated services does not utilize storage for the provision of service to sales customers?

MR. McINTOSH:  That's correct.  I might add, by Commission mandate.

MR. CASS:  Right.  And in Ontario, storage is an important element of the winter gas supply portfolio for both Union and Enbridge; right?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.  Absolutely.

MR. CASS:  And, more specifically, in Ontario, the gas consumed in winter by system gas customers, can be gas purchased at winter prices.  It can also be gas taken from storage that was purchased at summer prices.  Is that fair at a high level?

MR. McINTOSH:  At a high level, sure.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  And so in answers to interrogatories, the original GMG proposal from the prefiled evidence was modified to take effect -- take account of this use of storage gas in Ontario, right?

MR. McINTOSH:  Well, what we did, Mr. Cass, is try to refine the concepts going from a high level down to a more -- down to a level that could be more likely implemented.

So -- and, again, going back to Mr. Newcombe's opening comments, these are concepts that we offer for the Board's consideration.  So, yes.

MR. CASS:  Yes, okay.  Thank you.

And I think there are a number of places it's referred to in the interrogatory responses.  An example that I have is GMG's response to Union Gas's Interrogatory No. 8, is where this modified proposal -- is one place that the modified proposal is referred to.  That is the response to Union Gas Interrogatory No. 8.

MR. McINTOSH:  I have it.

MR. CASS:  So looking at part A of the response, in terms of how this would work, the second sentence indicates that you have -- the gas injected into storage is taken at the monthly purchase price, and then when it is withdrawn, it would be taken at the weighted average cost of gas in inventory, which has been referred to here as WACOG II.

MR. McINTOSH:  WACOG II, yes.

MR. CASS:  WACOG II, thank you.  I wasn't sure which it was.  Thank you.

So I think of this, then, as the blending of storage gas costs with gas prices, when gas is taken out of storage in winter.  Is that a fair way to describe it?

MR. McINTOSH:  In this example, yes, it is.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  And as indicated in answer B, GMG acknowledges that this blending will, in fact, mute price signals; right?

MR. McINTOSH:  That is correct, But I would add that, you know, whether it be this past winter where you have very expensive storage gas, or a more typical winter, if there is one, where summer gas is typically much cheaper than summer, the effect of having a monthly WACOG and the storage WACOG II, as we coined it, would still provide directionally the movement, if you went to a monthly price-setting mechanism.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  So in the summer, you would be using summer prices on a monthly basis, I take it?

MR. McINTOSH:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  And then in the winter, you would be using those summer prices again as you blend them in with the winter prices; right?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  So you are using the summer prices twice, essentially?

MR. McINTOSH:  No.  If I could clarify, the suggestion is -- and based on various presentations from Enbridge, the notional supply is delivered ratably.  So the flat delivery profile would be -- the monthly price would be -- the current price is about $3.50 in Alberta right now.  So that would be injected into the ground.  You come up with an ultimate WACOG.  So the summer delivery would be whatever the monthly index would be under this proposal.

Once you get to October 31, there would be a WACOG of five dollars, and if the price started to go up in the winter, which it typically does, or it has done in the past, then it would be -- it would be the muted effect, so the monthly index, plus the WACOG.  So notionally 50 percent of the supply for Ontario consumers would be sourced at the five dollar WACOG II storage number and 50 percent at the monthly index under this proposal.

MR. CASS: My point was simply that within this WACOG II, you have summer prices blended in there.

MR. McINTOSH:  In this example, yes.  If I could, Mr. Cass, what we're trying to do is just offer another alternative.

MR. CASS:  Fair enough.  I just wanted to be sure that I understand it, and my proposition was simply that you are using the summer prices in the summer and also, to some extent, not exclusively, you are also using them in the winter because they become blended into what you're doing in the winter.  You are using the same prices.

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.  We are using the actual costs incurred by the utility, which will ultimately be passed through to customers.

MR. CASS:  I just wanted to touch on something else as a bit of a sudden switch of subject, for which I apologize, but it does have some relevance in this area.

I am interested in some of the things that have been said about the conservation aspect of price signals.  So my question to you is whether you would agree that for direct purchase customers who have signed fixed-term contracts with fixed prices, there is no conservation incentive from market price signals.  Would you agree with that?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Well, there would not be an incentive to conserve based on any immediate price signal, because the customers are not getting that.  They've locked in a price. They're still getting a price signal.  But I think customers always have an incentive to conserve just to reduce their consumption.

MR. CASS:  I agree with that, but in terms of what they're getting from the price signal, they're not getting that while they're locked into that contract?

MR. McINTOSH:  They're not getting an immediate current month price signal, but they are getting a price signal, yes.

MR. CASS:  Now, still speaking of this concept of a monthly gas price adjustment, you would agree with me that there are other areas that change within the utility's cost structure once you change the price of gas?

MR. McINTOSH:  Are you referring to filing to the Board and...

MR. CASS:  No.  I am referring to things like unaccounted for gas would be now priced differently, for example.

MR. McINTOSH:  It would...

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McINTOSH:  I think there would be a change in the -- there wouldn't be any, necessarily, change in the cost.  There might be a change in the reporting of the UFG.  Maybe that is not answering your question.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  I think what we're struggling with, sir, is that our understanding is that today the utilities purchase the gas on a monthly basis on a monthly index.

So I don't know that the cost or the price to the utility would change.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, let me just take your monthly adjustment proposal and I will go through some things, and you tell me whether you think that they would need to be adjusted on a monthly basis -- or adjusted potentially in connection with the monthly adjustment.

So, for example, transportation, I realize that doesn't fluctuate with the price of gas, but it does fluctuate, for example, with NEB decisions.  Would you anticipate, within your model, that there would be adjustments for changes in transportation costs?


MR. McINTOSH:  Well, we would think it would be reflected in a much more timely fashion.  If you look at the TransCanada experience of last year, when they changed their rates, that would be reflected on -- as it would happen over the course of the monthly price setting mechanism, as TransCanada amends its rates.  Granted most transportation costs are reasonably static.  2008 with TransCanada was, I will describe, an exceptional year.

MR. CASS:  If I understood that correctly, that would be your proposal to the extent there are changes in transportation costs, they would get picked up in the monthly adjustment; right?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  What about load balancing costs?

MR. McINTOSH:  I refer back to my opening comments, where, you know, we understand that unbundling is not part of this discussion.  But where there is an unbundled opportunity, that might mitigate that.

With regards to explicit load balancing I would highlight, I would like to draw a bright line between the two component parts of load balancing.  That being system operational need, whether it be from ambient temperature meter reads and the like, and load balancing on behalf of shippers on the system.

So again I am sorry, Mr. Cass, your question was explicitly would the costs change?  Or would the calculation change?

MR. CASS:  Would that be an element of your proposal for monthly changes?

MR. McINTOSH:  Well, the short answer would be yes, but I am afraid you get the long answer.  It has to be –- the front office, back office and load balancing calculations from a wholesale, procurement, balancing, nomination true-up accounting perspective, is still being done on a real time or monthly basis.  I mean, that's the paradigm of the wholesale energy market.

So I mean really the only question is how those costs, prudently incurred, would be reported to this Board for approval.

MR. CASS:  All right.

MR. McINTOSH:  So I am sorry for the long answer.

MR. CASS:  I asked you about unaccounted for gas, but if I could just understand.  That would or would not be part of monthly adjustments under your proposal?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes, it would.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Now, you would be aware, I take it, that when there is a change in the price of gas, this has other related financial impacts on LDCs; right?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Such as?  Can you help us here?

MR. CASS:  Gas cost working cash allowance.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Okay.

MR. CASS:  Do you know what that is?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Can you give me your understanding then of how a change in gas prices impacts the gas cost working allowance.

MR. NEWCOMBE: No.

MR. CASS:  You would appreciate, I take it, that there are timing differences between the pace at which an LDC receives money from customers through gas rates and the pace at which money goes out; right?

MR. NEWCOMBE: Yes.  To the extent there is -- that changes, then --

MR. McINTOSH:  So the working capital requirement.

MR. CASS:  The working cash requirement in respect of gas costs, right, that's a related financial impact once you change the gas price?  Right?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.  I mean, I think as Mr. McIntosh said earlier, though, that is all being -- that should, I presume, all being done today because right now there is going to be differences too between the cash coming in the door and the payments for the gas going out the door.  So I don't think anything additional is going to happen.  It just going to be different numbers you are dealing with.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Then another one is the impact of a gas price change on storage value-related carrying costs, in other words carrying costs of the value of gas in storage; right?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  All right.  And --

MR. McINTOSH:  Excuse me, sir.  One moment, please.

MR. CASS:  Excuse me.


[Witness panel confers]

MR. NEWCOMBE:  So if I understand that one, Mr. Cass, today when the utilities purchase gas for injection in the summer, they purchase it at monthly index and they inject it, then it is carried through to presumably October 31 or November 1 when it starts to be drawn down.

So I think, whether you change the recoveries from customers or not, I don't see how that calculation will change.

MR. CASS:  All right.  And you agree with me to the extent that gas costs working cash allowance or gas in storage carrying costs change, there are related impacts on capital costs and GST; right?

MR. NEWCOMBE: Sure.

MR. CASS:  And as I understand it in this monthly adjustment process proposal by GMG, it is not proposed there be any change to delivery rates on a monthly basis?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  That's correct.  You know, there's not too much in a distribution utility that's variable costs, so...

MR. CASS:  So the variances in all of the areas that I have just gone through, how are they going to be captured under the GMG proposal?

MR. McINTOSH:  Well, as we indicated earlier, I think a lot of this math, this accounting, is being done currently.

So I mean as Mr. Newcombe suggested earlier, we understand that we're asking for a change or advocating a change, but that would be part of the implementation stakeholder discussions, we would think.

MR. CASS:  Well it's being done currently on a quarterly basis; right?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.  So we are asking for instead of four times a year, 12 times a year.

MR. CASS:  All right.  For all of the things that we have been going through to be adjusted?

MR. McINTOSH:  Again, I would suggest that it is -- much of it is being done on a monthly basis already from a wholesale perspective.

MR. CASS:  Would you agree with me that the budget billing plan is open to both direct purchase and system gas customers?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Can I ask you to turn up page 27 of the GMG evidence, please.

I would like to direct you right to the very bottom of page 27, if I might.  The very last sentence indicates that the three-point balancing and the weather-normalized MDV re-establishment must be completed in conjunction with each other.  I am just trying to clarify.  Would that mean that the GMG would not be supporting the MDV re-establishment and weather normalization without also the checkpoint balancing – sorry, the BGA check points in conjunction with it?

MS. RUZYCKI:  No, we would definitely support the re-establishment of the MDV, and the weather normalization as a critical factor.  We suggested that it should be combined with the three-point balancing.

MR. CASS:  I see.  But you would support it on its own?

MS. RUZYCKI:  We would definitely support it on its own.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you.  That's helpful.

Now, direct purchase customers, they deliver their mean daily volume or MDV each day of the year; is that right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  That's correct.  Unless a suspension or make-up has been requested and approved.

MR. CASS:  Right.  And a suspension is the customer's option, at least at certain times, not to deliver the full mean daily volume, and a make-up is an option at least at certain times to deliver more than the mean daily volume?

MS. RUZYCKI:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  Direct purchase customers have a banked gas account, or BGA, that tracks the differences between deliveries and consumption; is that right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes, that's right.

MR. CASS:  And so the direct purchase market works on the principles of MDV deliveries, and BGA management rules, such that total deliveries match consumption at the end of each contract year, subject to the BGA tolerances; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  That they match?  No.  They don't match. Therefore you have an inventory position in the BGA either positive or negative.  Because your consumption never equals -- sorry, your delivery never equals the exact consumption so there is always a balance in the BGA account that has to be cleared at the end of the contract term.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  But there are certain tolerances that must be met at the end of the year; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  So I said subject to the tolerances, your balances are going to -- it's going to come into balance at the end of the contract year, subject to the tolerance that is allowed?

MS. RUZYCKI:  That's right.  We had to be within plus or minus 20 percent of the MDV at the end of the contract term.  And anything above that is either bought or sold based on the -- at Enbridge's forecast price or price that is set.


MR. CASS:  So, for example, with weather -- normal weather, weather entirely as expected and no customer migration, then, it would come out in balance at the end of the year; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  There are always other factors, such as consumption, the economy.  You know, people are hearing bad news, the economy, and conserving in any -- you know, making every effort to conserve.  So I wouldn't say that it is always going to be exact.  That is what the BGA is there for, is to capture the differences.

MR. CASS:  All right, fair enough.


You would agree, I'm sure, that Enbridge's franchise area is different geographically than Union's?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Enbridge has no significant amount of storage within its franchise area; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  That's right.

MR. CASS:  And Enbridge does not have anything within its franchise area like the Dawn hub; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  That's right.

MR. CASS:  And you would agree with me that over and above the average daily deliveries that come on to its system, Enbridge is not able to meet its total winter needs with just storage; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  I'll take your word on that.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  I didn't know that you weren't aware of that.  So you are not aware that Enbridge --

MS. RUZYCKI:  I know there is load balancing, et cetera, in storage that they have.  The peak day -- you said, sorry, on the peak day.  Yes, yes, I am aware that on the peak day that they cannot meet the load.

MR. CASS:  So over and above their average daily deliveries and their use of storage, Enbridge in the winter peaks has to rely on, for example, seasonal and peaking supplies; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  If there is a variance in the costs of these seasonal and peaking supplies from what was forecast, then that is a variance that will have to be accounted for in some fashion; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Do you agree that Enbridge does load balancing, matching supply and demand on a day-to-day basis for all customers, direct purchase and system gas?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And just in that regard, could I ask you to turn up page 34 of Enbridge's prefiled evidence, please?

I am looking at figure 2.  You would see there the curve that represents -- it is a representative demand profile; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And there are lines under the curve that represent how Enbridge typically would meet that demand curve through the course of the year; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And the lower flat line, that represents what we've been referring to as the average daily deliveries that Enbridge has coming into its franchise area; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And then there is a higher line that shows the storage that Enbridge can draw on as the curve moves into the winter; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. CASS:  And above the second line that I have just referred to, the higher line, there is still part of that demand curve that needs to be met; correct?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes, at the peak day.

MR. CASS:  Yes, at the peak times in the winter.  And this is where, as I referred to, Enbridge is using peaking and seasonal supplies and also curtailment of customers; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.  Of interruptible customers, yes.

MR. CASS:  Of interruptible, of course, not firm, yes.

So at this time in the winter, when Enbridge is using its -- using all of these resources, including curtailment of interruptible customers, you would agree with me that Enbridge doesn't have the ability at that time to accommodate suspensions from customers; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And, in fact, in order to be able to accommodate suspensions from customers at a time like that, Enbridge would essentially have to over-contract in advance to give it more leeway at that time of year; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Sorry, could you just repeat that?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  In order to be able to accommodate suspensions at that time when it is curtailing interruptible customers and relying on all of these other sources of supply, in order to be able to accommodate suspensions from customers, Enbridge would have had to have over-contracted for some element of this supply, whether it is the transportation, or storage or something, to be able to then accommodate a suspension; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  They would have to, yes, take other measures. 
MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.

Now, if I could just take this, then, more to the individual customer perspective, if I could ask you to turn up Enbridge's response to VECC Interrogatory No. 6, please?

Enbridge response to VECC Interrogatory No. 6, page 2 is what I would be looking at.

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  You see there the representation of BGA graph; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And what this is attempting to depict is that in terms of what the customer is delivering by way of the mean daily volume -- leaving aside make-ups and suspensions, the customer is delivering on that straight line running across, because the mean daily volume was delivered each day of the year; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And then the curved line would be the actual customer's consumption or demand; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And to match the customer's supply and demand on a daily basis, Enbridge is actually doing the load balancing that allows that to occur; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.  They're managing the load balancing for both system supply and direct purchase, and the inventories are going -- just to distinguish between the BGA and load balancing, the inventories for the marketer are being recorded in the BGA account.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  The BGA is tracking the direct purchase customer's situation; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  But to the extent that that demand curve diverges in in any fashion from the straight line - again, leaving aside make-ups and suspensions -- Enbridge is taking on the responsibility to do the load balancing for that customer; right?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes, that's true, sir.  But, I mean, that's a factor of the rules around how, say, this particular customer is required to deliver its gas.  If he was required to deliver his gas according to his load profile, for example, or things like storage and upstream transportation were unbundled and it was up to that customer to look after his own, the situation would look much different.

MR. CASS:  Sure.  I am just trying to be sure that we are all on the same page on this, because I think in some of the evidence there seemed to be some difference about load balancing and BGA management.

So I take it you are agreeing with me then, in that -- looking at that BGA management graph that we just looked at, that is tracking the customer's situation.  But, again, leaving aside make-ups and suspensions, that is not load balancing by the customer, is it?

MS. RUZYCKI:  No.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.

So, in fact, just to sort of close the loop on this, this was something that Enbridge had asked about in its Interrogatory No. 17 to the Gas Marketer Group.  I don't suggest that a lot turns on it at this point, since I think we have cleared it up, but if you were to look at Enbridge's Interrogatory No. 17 to the Gas Marketers Group, you would see that there was a request to explain the difference between load balancing --

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  -- and the direct purchaser's obligation to manage the BGA.  That was in part A of the interrogatory.

Really, what we have just been through, that is the answer to part A, isn't it?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.  I think here that one part is speaking of the BGA versus load balancing and the distinction was not made.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.

I just have one small other area, if I might.  This time, if I may, I would like to refer you to the Union Gas evidence starting, say, at page 51.

I may just need to go back to give you a little context, but if you could turn up page 51 of the Union Gas prefiled evidence?


Now, just to set the context, having asked you to turn up that page, for the purposes of context, if you look back at page 47, you will see this ask discussing what occurs in Union north as opposed to Union south; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. CASS:  Then at page 51, I want to take you to the numbered paragraph 1, where there is an indication, in respect of Union north, customers benefit from having Union manage daily and seasonal balancing utilizing the system and asset diversity that Union has.

That's essentially what Enbridge does; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Sorry --

MR. CASS:  Sorry.  Page 51.

MS. RUZYCKI:  Sorry, you are speaking in the north where there is -- essentially what Enbridge does, versus the south?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  This is a description of what Union does in Union north and I am suggesting to you it is essentially what Enbridge does in its system.

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  And I think it is essentially what every utility does.  You know, they manage their system and they balance the loads through whatever tools they have at their disposal.

MR. CASS:  Right.  But like Enbridge, Union doesn't have BGA checkpoints in Union north; right?

MS. RUZYCKI:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, sir.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Smith.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, panel.  My name is Crawford Smith.  I act for Union Gas.  And I will endeavour not to be unduly repetitive, hopefully not repetitive at all.



Can I ask you to turn to Enbridge's interrogatory to you, number 14, please.  Have you got that?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes, we do.

MR. SMITH:  And as I understand it, this interrogatory describes the Gas Marketing Group's position in this proceeding as to how the reference price should be calculated.

MR. McINTOSH:  It is an example of how we can do it.

MR. SMITH:  So if I -- sorry, go ahead.

MR. McINTOSH:  Well, I would you know go back and stress this is a very simplistic reflection of how it could be done.

So, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And if I look at the first possibility, I believe Mr. Cass might have touched on this, you refer there to a blending of the gas expected to be purchased for the month –- I suppose that is the next month -- and the gas purchased during the summer; correct?

MR. McINTOSH:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  So you have, in effect, by blended, you are averaging.  So you have two averages.  You have the WACOG which is the weighted average cost of gas acquired in the summer, and you are averaging that with the actual cost of the month ahead gas.

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.  And Mr. Cass and I touched on that, the WACOG I and WACOG II, if you like, to come up with a blend.

MR. SMITH:  I think you indicated to Mr. Cass that this was a, I think you used a modification of your evidence in your prefiled?

MR. McINTOSH:  I described it as a refinement, but...

MR. SMITH:  Is it fair to say that these two proposals, Mr. McIntosh, do not appear at all in your prefiled evidence?

MR. McINTOSH:  I believe that is correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And is it fair to say that not only do they not appear, but that you are explicitly critical of this form of averaging in your prefiled evidence?

MR. McINTOSH:  I would not go that far.  I mean, again we are trying to refine this as we're trying to go through some -- again, some very tough issues.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to page 21 of your prefiled evidence, please.  Do you have that?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And at the top of the page, it indicates that this is a summary of your proposed structure for rate-setting. Do you have that?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And at the bottom of the paragraph, I guess it is the second paragraph, the last sentence says:

"In returning to the principles behind the current rate-setting mechanism, the above-noted rate-setting structure better reflects the principles outlined in the Enbridge QRAM application in the following ways."


Do you see that?

MR. McINTOSH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  Then there are a number of headings, I take these are the principles referred to in an earlier Enbridge application.

If you turn over to the next page, towards the bottom, under the heading "fairness and equity among all customer groups."

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  It is indicated:

"Under the current QRAM protocol, in the fall, the utilities typically underestimate the cost of the winter supply by including the lower summer cost.  This distorts the actual winter price down during periods of peak demand.  Likewise, the summer reported price is distorted up by including winter prices that will not be incurred by the utility.  This price distortion (or not market prices) results in a misalignment between the actual costs incurred by the utility and the prices charged to consumers.  This leads to exaggerated over- and under-recoveries each quarter that must be disposed of through the deferral accounts."


Do you have that?

MR. McINTOSH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And isn't that, at least so far as the averaging of the summer and winter price concerned, isn't that exactly what you are proposing here?

MR. McINTOSH:  In some ways.

However, this is where we link into the unbundling argument versus the -- with regards to how we would really treat storage.

As we suggested earlier in our evidence, notionally the summer/winter differential, infrastructure aside but just the price consideration – is notionally the value of storage associated by the market in any market area.  So if it was a truly unbundled world, then I would suggest that this would apply.

So I mean, I go back to my opening comments, such that there was some confusion with regards to how do you segregate the QRAM proceeding from some of the other proceedings.

So to try to answer your question, you know, this is kind of a -- this is straddling that fence, if you like.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  If I could just add, sir, you know, nothing is perfect.  The way we've laid it out and suggested one way it could be done does introduce an element of monthly pricing through, you know in the winter approximately half of the gas, whatever is going to be priced on a monthly basis.  The other one will be this blended WACOG in storage.

As I said, nothing is perfect.  We believe it is a step in the right direction that could easily be taken.

MR. McINTOSH:  I would also add that the 12-month price horizon that is currently calculated by Union and Enbridge, for months 4 through 12, as we state, given the fact the buying protocol has changed to all monthly all the time, months 4 through 12 cannot reasonably be expected to be incurred on behalf of the utilities and ultimately the consumers.

MR. SMITH:  My point was simply that the averaging you are proposing isn't -– is, in some respects, no different than the averaging you are critical of in your prefiled evidence.  I think that is a fair reading of that.  Do you disagree?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  No, I don't think so.  Because as I said, the averaging that we are talking about here includes certain element of monthly pricing into that average.  So it is going to change every month.  So it is not quite the same thing.

I mean I think what we also have to realize is we have to be practical.  Yes, the utilities in Ontario do put gas into storage.  It is injected at a certain cost and then when it comes out, it is at a different cost than it is for the month.

So, I mean, you know unless you want to -- I think one of our other suggestions was it could be repriced every month at current month pricing.  Those are both viable alternatives, but you have to be practical.  You can't ignore the fact that there is a whole bunch of gas in the ground at a certain price.

MR. SMITH:  I think you agreed with Mr. Cass that volatility would be a relevant consideration or rate stability is a relevant consideration for consumers?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Sure.  I think if you go back and reread Bonbright, there are a whole bunch of relevant considerations.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  If you turn to VECC No. 8, your answer to VECC No. 8.  Do you have that?

MR. McINTOSH:  We do.

MR. SMITH:  You were asked whether or not, in question B, to confirm -- well, you were asked to confirm that the effect of implementing your approach would be to increase the volatility or variability of gas commodity rates.  Do you see that?

MR. McINTOSH:  We do.

MR. SMITH:  Your answer below is you don't know.  Is that --

MR. McINTOSH:  Well, it is really based on the wholesale market.  You know, if -- as I suggested earlier, frequency in rate changes does not necessarily lead to volatility.  You can have an incredibly volatile, like, short-term market with -- the price is gapping up in the first half of the month and gapping down, with the result being a flat rate over the course of the monthly index-setting period.

In the Alberta example, that doesn't -- so you have high volatility, but low variability, if you like.

So, I mean, it really is completely incumbent upon the vagaries of the wholesale market, especially in light of buying all monthly all the time.  And I know that there are some spot purchases required, but perhaps I am not understanding the question.

MR. SMITH:  Well, maybe if I can summarize, I appreciate that you can't predict what's going to happen in the future, and I think you are trying -- you are saying that in this answer.  You don't know the extent to which prices are going to fluctuate in the future; correct?

MR. McINTOSH:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  But if everything else unfolds exactly as it has in the past, that repricing monthly will be more volatile than the existing QRAM methodology.  Do you agree with that?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  I don't think you can deny that the price to consumers will change every month.  So if that's volatility, then, yes, volatility will be reflected in the retail prices.

The underlying wholesale volatility will be whatever it is.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. McINTOSH:  Just one moment.  I would like to find the reference in our evidence.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McINTOSH:  I'm sorry.  Please proceed.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Well, I take it, then, that assuming there will be an increase in volatility, if you will make that assumption, that that volatility, to the extent it is a disbenefit - and I understand your position is that it is not - would be outweighed by the benefit of increased price accuracy?

MR. McINTOSH:  Well, I don't necessarily agree with your initial assumption.  But given that, yes, what we're suggesting is that some of the PGVA balances have reached as high as $140 million, I believe.

By making the price more accurate and going back to the Board's direction of mitigation of deferrals, we believe that is a balancing act and worthy of consideration for this Board.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Now --

MR. NEWCOMBE:  I think, just -- sorry, I am going to say -- going back to your question, yes, I think in considering the options in front of it, what this Board has to do is weigh, okay, the monthly price changes versus some of the good things that come with monthly price changes.

MR. SMITH:  Right.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  That's the proposition.  There is a balancing here, and some people would say you have volatility on one side, accuracy on the other, and there's got to be a balancing of that.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.  Accuracy and other things good things, as well, but, yes.

MR. SMITH:  So do you accept that there are costs associated with moving to a monthly price?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Costs?

MR. SMITH:  There will be costs incurred by the utilities, which costs will be passed on to distribution customers under your proposal, cost of implementation?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Well, I think our experience would suggest that it can be done for minimal, insignificant cost.

MR. McINTOSH:  I would also add, again, as I responded to Mr. Cass, that virtually all of the work is being done currently.  It is really just the filing of reporting requirements and some regulatory work.  So, yes, I would concede that that is -- would be an incremental need.

MR. SMITH:  I am not asking you to agree with the costing estimates that Union and Enbridge have put forward.  I am just asking you to agree with the proposition that there will be some implementation costs.

MR. McINTOSH:  I was just trying to add some definition as to our perception of what those costs might be.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Those are costs which will be borne by distribution customers under your proposal; correct?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.  We believe that is appropriate.

MR. SMITH:  Now, if you turn to page 3 of your prefiled evidence, please?

And if you have that, if you can look at the first full paragraph that begins "In addition"; do you have that?

MR. McINTOSH:  We do.

MR. SMITH:  The second sentence says:
"As the default option, pricing reflective of market rates allows consumers to make informed provider and consumption choices."

Do you have that?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  I believe this is a concept, Mr. Newcombe, that you tried to highlight in your comments in opening, and I think you have tried to make it in your banking and gasoline analogies.  But I think what you are saying is, distilled to us its essence, if you give consumers the right information, whatever that -- however you characterize that, you give them the right information, then they will make the choice that is appropriate for them?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  I think as a general statement about life, that would be true, yes.

MR. SMITH:  So would you agree with me that ratepayers are best positioned to evaluate whether the proposition you are putting forward in this proceeding is or is not best for them?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  That ratepayers are best able to do that?

MR. SMITH:  Well, the distribution customers are the ones who are paying for this.  You say those costs are de minimus.  There is evidence from Union and from Enbridge that they're not de minimus.

There is a balancing that has to take place, the benefit of volatility -- the rate stability versus accuracy, however one measures that.

And I am putting to you the very proposition I think is contained in your evidence, which is that the ratepayers who are paying for this are best positioned to do that balancing.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  To make the ultimate assessment of how they would like to purchase and pay for their energy, or whether --

MR. SMITH:  Whether or not your proposal is one that ought to be adopted by this Board.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Oh, I see.  I think the premise behind your question, though, was:  Should ratepayers get all of the information they need to make an informed decision about their energy purchase?

I don't know that in the absence of giving consumers some exposure to the pricing model and the underlying wholesale costs, that they would see through a monthly default supply price, that they will have that information.

I think, though, your actual question was:  Should we go out and poll ratepayers and try and understand what the proper rate design for utilities should be?

MR. SMITH:  I know your view on that is that you shouldn't, because you haven't.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Sorry, you know my?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I understand your position must be that you don't think you need to poll ratepayers to determine whether or not they agree with your proposition, because, as I understand it, you haven't done that.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Well, yes, but, I mean, I have worked in the utility business for almost 30 years and I don't recall ever going out and canvassing all of the ratepayers on how we should design rates, and whether we should have a demand charge and whether the customer charge should go up or down and how you want your commodity structured.

So I am not aware of any utility that has ever done that.  I think those things are typically done inside rooms just like this, with people just like in this room.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Have you conducted any stakeholder consultations with the people who are in this room?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Have we?


[Witness panel confers]

MS. RUZYCKI:  Although we didn't include everybody in the room, we did have some initial discussions with Enbridge and Union early on, as to issues that might arise, but nothing other than that.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So nothing with any of the ratepayer groups?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  And I am not -- I am not personally aware of anything with respect to consultation on this process, but as I understand it, the OEB makes extensive use of consultative processes on all sort of issues, which I would assume would involve a lot of the parties in this room.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  We will take our morning break.  We will reconvene at 25 minutes after the hour, and proceed according to whatever order you decide, or we will choose a geographic option.

[Laughter]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So take your chances.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:31 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.

Have the rest of the questioners determined an order?  I don't see one.  So in the absence of one, we will go geographically, but, Ms. Girvan, that means you would be the last one.  Is that satisfactory to you?

MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, Mr. Manning.

MR. MANNING:  I was actually hoping to go towards the end.  Many of my questions will be filtered out.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I guess I should have volunteered and taken credit for volunteering.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Where there is no order, we will impose one.  That was facetious.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Michael Buonaguro.  I am counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, one of the ratepayer groups that I think Mr. Smith referred to in his cross.

I would like to start with looking at Exhibit 3.1 and just ask you some clarifying questions.  I am looking at row number 4, and you have summarized under "GMG Proposal", with respect to deferral and variance account disposition, that you would see the deferral accounts cleared monthly to match the forecasting period?

MR. McINTOSH:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that an expression of a general principle that the clearance period should match the forecasting period?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And in line number 5, when you are talking about impact on revenue requirement with respect to the reference price -- and I know Mr. Cass took you through, I guess, some detailed information on how this works, but at a high level, my understanding, from what you have put here, is that you are basically saying that whatever the reference price is, whether it is based on the old methodology or the new methodology that you are proposing, that reference price gets carried through in the same way it has always been carried through, and that the change would be either on a quarterly basis, if it is under the current system, or monthly basis under your system.


So there is no specific change to the way that the revenue requirement would be impacted.  Rather, it is all derivative of the other changes, and how and when?

MR. McINTOSH:  I think the answer is "yes", but just to add some clarity to that, we believe that, again, the change in the buying protocol, it is all short term.  The monthly index gives the utilities and the Board and consumers a clear indication of what reasonable costs would or should be incurred.


Again, by using a 12-month forward view of the world, we have some graphs in our evidence to suggest that, given the volatility of NYMEX, no one really knows if that is going to rightly occur.

So I believe the answer to your question is "yes".

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Now, on load balancing, under -- on the table, I just want to make sure I understood this correctly, because Enbridge has their description of what they're proposing under "Utility Proposal B", "Enbridge to adopt MDV re-establishment mechanism", and then you have "weather-normalized MDV re-establishment".


Now, I understand that, one, you're saying that - and this is I guess my understanding of the evidence as we have been chatting here - the current Enbridge proposal is not on a weather-normalized basis at the start of the contract year in terms of establishing MDV; is that correct?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Currently Enbridge does not weather-normalize consumption, but they have proposed that they will.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, so are you agreeing with Enbridge's proposal?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes, we are agreeing with their proposal on that portion, and we're suggesting they should also incorporate three-point balancing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The only difference between Enbridge's proposal for their system and your proposal is the multi-point balancing?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Then on billing terminology, you have it summarized here as harmonized terminology, which suggests to me that you don't necessarily care or see a distinction in terms of accuracy or correctness between Enbridge and Union; rather, that you just want them to use the same terminology.


Is that fair, or do you have a preference for one or the other on certain terms?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  We would certainly like to see it harmonized.  Somewhere in our evidence, sir, we did suggest that the -- or in one of the IR responses, that the Union bill maybe provides the more appropriate template.  But, yes, sir.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Now, in your evidence and in your IR responses and in your opening today, you mentioned unbundling of storage and transportation as an issue for the group, but not necessarily in this proceeding.  Is that fair?

MR. McINTOSH:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I wanted to confirm whether or not your position in this proceeding changes based on what happens in unbundling, I guess particularly with respect to Enbridge.

MR. McINTOSH:  Well, again, as we discussed a little bit earlier, it is modified, because to get the full benefit, in our opinion, of our proposal, ideally it would be unbundled, and then there would be a segregation between the commodity and the delivery services to get to the ultimate end user.


But that aside, understanding that it is not part of it, it does not preclude going to a monthly price-setting mechanism for some the things that Mr. Cass and I discussed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in Mr. Smith's cross-examination, he pointed to references in your initial evidence which were critical of including the average storage cost, in terms of determining the reference price.  You had a discussion with him, and one of the things you said, in defence of your original evidence as opposed to your newer proposal that arose in the IRs, was that in a truly unbundled world, this would apply, "this" meaning your original evidence.

Did I understand that correctly, or have I recalled your evidence correctly?

MR. McINTOSH:  I think that is a fair characterization.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Am I to understand, then -- well, first of all, Union has unbundled services; correct?

MR. McINTOSH:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And Enbridge doesn't?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think your main complaint about unbundling is with respect to Enbridge and the fact they haven't unbundled yet?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Am I to understand your statement that in a truly unbundled world, this would apply, your analysis to the reference price?  Are you suggesting that in a truly unbundled world, system gas, as it is being provided to system gas customers, would be on a commodity-only basis and they wouldn't receive the benefit of storage?

MR. McINTOSH:  No.  What I am suggesting is that system suppliers would be treated as any other market participants providing energy retail service, in that they would have their required need for storage.  I mean, we're not suggesting, at all, that there is not a need for storage in the Ontario marketplace.  Clearly, there is.

But what we're suggesting is treat the default supplier or system supplier the same as any other market participant.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you would agree that --

MR. McINTOSH:  I'm sorry to interrupt, but that is in the ideal world.  Again, to the benefit of the Board, we understand that is not part of this discussion, but I will...

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I am to understand that whether it is in this proceeding based on the current situation in Ontario or in a future completely unbundled world, you would agree that system gas can and should be provided with storage --

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- in the mix?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Well, I won't disagree with that for the specific of Ontario.  I mean, what I would say is that in a market structure where the provision of the commodity is unbundled from the distribution function, then, as Mr. McIntosh said, the system supplier gets treated like any other supplier.  He's got a pool, and how he makes sure that that gas is there and available to his customers would be up to them.


And in the Ontario example, for instance, I don't see today any other way of doing it without storage.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  But it wouldn't necessarily mean that just because it is system gas, it has to include storage in that scenario.  But in all likelihood, I am sure it would.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think what you're telling me is that it is always up to the person providing the supply to optimize it.  In Ontario, optimizing it includes storage?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes, I believe so.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, I would like you to turn to a VECC interrogatory to GMG No. 7(a).

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What number was that, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Number 7.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  We have identified it as -- it would be I-23, I think, 7 (a).


IR-23, 7(a).  In this interrogatory we asked:

"Does GMG agree that it would be reasonable for a sales customer, whose considering whether to remain a sales customer or to enter into a long-term fixed price contract with a retail marketer, to be interested in the expected average cost of the sales service over as long a period as possible.  If not, why not?"


The answer was that was:

"The GMG believes that customers should use all available information at their disposal from utilities, marketers, or publicly-available sources to determine whether they should choose what should be a default supply that is reflective of current market prices offered by the utilities or long-term fixed rate contracts offered by marketers."


Now, that seemed to me to be a long way of saying "yes".  Is that true?  With the caveat that there is other information they should be looking at as well?

MR. McINTOSH:  I think that is an important caveat.  But again, this speaks in some ways to the intergenerational concerns, and trying to match that up.

So I will give you my short answer now and I will say yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I like short answers.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  I will give you maybe the medium answer --


[Laughter]


MR. NEWCOMBE:  -- which is, yes.  I think they should have all -- you may be interested in what the expectation is for sales service or system supply service.  It is not to suggest, though, that we think he should be -- that is how his gas should necessarily be priced on a month.  We still think it should be priced on a month-to-month basis and that reflects the underlying pricing model that he is paying for, whatever the wholesale price is from time to time.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, in 7(b) we asked you to agree with certain stated assumptions that the overall utility sales price base rates plus riders, as is now calculated by Union with respect to 12-month forward forecasts of gas prices and PGVA balances, provides the best available estimate of the average cost of sales gas over the 12 month period as of the time of estimates are made.

Do you see that question?

MR. McINTOSH:  We do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Your answer was that you do not agree.  I am paraphrasing.  I am going down to the second sentence of your answer:

"GMG does not agree that also including a 12-month disposition of past PGVA balances along with a QRAM frequency is most reflective of commodity prices over that period."


Which we took to mean you don't agree that the overall utility sales price as it is shown in the bill on a monthly basis, reflects their 12 month forecasts.  Is that --

MR. McINTOSH:  If you refer to our evidence, we suggested that a 12-month forward look on prices was a fair and reasonable way to do it when there was a portfolio approach from a pricing perspective.

That being some five-year, some three-year, some collars, some hedges, some this and that.

But with the evolution of the buying practices of the utilities to all month all the time and still using what we consider a dated pricing mechanism, pricing calculation, we think that that does not necessarily give the right pricing signals to customers, in that the prices or the commodity price as referred to on the utility bill, is not what the cost could reasonably be incurred.  What they're going to incur on a monthly or quarterly basis is the one-month or three-month period at the time of reporting.

In previous discussions, I think Mr. Hoaken was able to get some agreement that should you be able to get a forecast closer to the actual flow of the period in question, you get a more accurate price.

So -- and again, with regards to the disposition, it is our position that the disposition should be concurrent with the pricing period in question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you agree that when asked similar questions, both Enbridge and Union responded with their evidence, which was that it does in fact represent a fair forecast, the 12-month price the utility is going to be offering?

MR. McINTOSH:  My apologies.

MR. BUONAGURO:  For example, I asked the Enbridge panel on Monday whether the gas price that appeared on their bill before PGVA was effectively their forecast of the price for the next 12 months and they said yes, that's what we expect -- I am paraphrasing -- but that's what the consumer can expect from us in terms of our forecast.

MR. McINTOSH:  That's a price forecast.  But again it is going back to actual costs incurred.

I would ask you to refer to our evidence figure 1.  Again, I have been doing this for a number of years and I will acknowledge that 2008 was a rather extraordinary price ride, but what we wanted to try to illustrate -- I'm sorry, do you have it, sir?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I do.

MR. McINTOSH:  Okay.  What we were trying to illustrate with that schematic, based on actual historical NYMEX futures and historical NYMEX settles for the same time periods in question, was that the forecast is not truly reflective of what the costs incurred.

I go back to, again, our evidence with regards to -- I will get the reference here -- table 2, where we have some rather material riders, which reflect the 11 out of 12 quarters where there was an overcharge to customers.  I think in this example it is Union, I believe.  I'm sorry.  Enbridge?

The point I am trying to make is, the forecast cost estimate which calculates the commodity price is not the price actually incurred by the utility to serve customers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you're referring to your evidence in-chief here, right, the initial draft of your evidence?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes, yes, I'm sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  This evidence was all prepared before GMG introduced the concept of using or incorporating historical storage prices into its formula?  For determining the reference price?

MR. McINTOSH:  The first table or graph I referred to was just an analysis, to suggest:  Here's what had happened to evidence, the flawed nature of using exclusively a forecast to base your cost estimates.

To be clear, what we're suggesting is to use the best available estimate, a prompt month cost as reported by the marketplace, as the best proxy for what the actual costs to be incurred.  Does that answer your question?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess partly.  The simple question was:   This analysis was done at the time where GMG was proposing a pricing which didn't reflect any storage; correct?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I would like to turn to part (j) of the interrogatory response, part 7(j).

Now, we asked -- we referred back to the preamble part of the preamble.  If you go back to the beginning of the question we cited here.  So if you go back to page 11 of the interrogatory responses, we're looking at the quote from page 6 of your evidence which says:

"The notion that the use of the 12 month strip aids gas consumers in understanding competitive retail fixed price offerings in relation to the default supply offering is fundamentally flawed."


And we asked you to confirm what you meant by that, and we gave you two options of what we thought you might mean.  The first, we asked:  Did you mean that it was inappropriate for the utility gas commodity sales rate to function as a comparator for or to provide information that will assist consumers in evaluating retail market fixed price offerings?  Or the other understanding of that, which was:  While it would be appropriate for the utility gas commodity sales rate to provide information that will assist consumers in evaluating fixed price offerings, the existing QRAM mechanism fails to do so?

So your answer says that it fails to function as a comparator for consumers in evaluating retail market or fixed price offerings, which suggests that you were answering it -- that part 2 was what you meant?

MR. NEWCOMBE: Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So does that mean that you would agree that consumers should be able to look at the bill and, from that bill, determine reasonably what the 12-month forecast is going to be and that you are arguing over how well the bill does that?

MR. McINTOSH:  Sorry, go ahead.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  No, I don't believe so.  I mean, I think, if I understand what you just said -- so if a consumer looks at his bill now, what he sees is the 12-month average forecast plus or minus the PGVA balance; right?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Then that is what it shows and that's all it shows.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  What we're suggesting is that a default supply, properly designed, should have another role, and that is to provide consumers with a sense of what the underlying wholesale commodity pricing is at any given time.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, are you -- sorry, to interrupt.  You said another role.  Do you mean a different role or an additional role?

MR. McINTOSH:  Well, as far as the comparator, I think it should be a reflection, again, of actual costs incurred, but of short-term market pricing.  We could come up with hundreds of different market prices, but I think the key part is:  What costs are going to be reasonably incurred by the customers for their gas supply?

Again, going back to my earlier comment, if you had a portfolio approach, the 12-month forward as a proxy is a reasonable treatment, in our view.

As I mentioned in my opening remarks, we have seen an evolution of the Ontario gas market where -- from the last gas forum to this, such that I believe it is quite different.

So I --

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am just trying to pin down what you are quarrelling with, and I can't -- I haven't been able to determine, in my own mind, whether you are objecting to the utility even attempting to provide consumers, through its system gas price, an outlook over the next 12 months, or whether you are simply objecting that they're doing it poorly.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Well, I think what we're saying is that it may not be totally appropriate for the utility to provide consumers with a 12-month average forecast, when that is not how the utility is buying gas and that's not how the consumers are going to end up paying for it.

All we know about the gas price forecast is that it is going to be wrong.  You know, gas prices will be higher or lower than what that average number is today and the next 12 months.

Although, as Mr. McIntosh said, 2008 may have been subject to some extreme volatility, any forecast that was made in April, May, June, July, August of 2008 was wildly wrong.

So while, yes, the QRAM as it is today provides consumers with that view of the average for the next 12 months, plus or minus the adjustments, I don't think it is very meaningful when they're buying gas on a monthly basis.

MR. McINTOSH:  I would add to Mr. Newcombe's evidence that when we prepared this evidence, the wholesale price of gas has dropped some two-plus dollars since that time, so - where you have the prompt month NYMEX trading in the mid three-dollar range.

So -- and I mean that would be off the scale of some of the other graphs that we have provided.  So that is an example of what Mr. Newcombe is referring to.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Mondrow.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Panel, I think you are aware of -- he turned it off.  There goes my big opening.

[Laughter]

MR. MONDROW:  I think you are aware that I act for the Industrial Gas Users Association, and so mercifully I won't be asking you a whole lot of questions about QRAM pricing or MRAM pricing.

But I do want to ask you questions in a couple of areas.  The first is in respect of delivery rates.  Mr. Cass took you through a number of - I think it was you, Mr. McIntosh - cost elements, gas cost, working cash allowance related carrying costs, gas and storage carrying costs, unaccounted for gas.

I assume you are aware that in Ontario those costs are recovered in delivery rates.  Are you aware of that?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And you are aware that Enbridge has historically changed its delivery rates -- in recent history, in any event, changed its delivery rates quarterly to reflect the changes in gas costs that affect those cost elements, and that Union is proposing to move to quarterly delivery rate changes to reflect those cost elements?  You're aware of that?

MR. McINTOSH:  That's my understanding.

MR. MONDROW:  If I could take you to your response to IGUA Interrogatory No. 2, IGUA asks in the second paragraph of that question:
"Under its proposed MRAM, is GMG proposing that each utility's delivery rates change on a monthly basis?"

The response was:
"No.  The GMG was referring to commodity rate-setting in response to Board specific question 5.2 and not delivery."

So I just want to confirm with you, panel, if I could, that you are not proposing that the gas distributors, if an MRAM is adopted in Ontario, need to move to or should necessarily move to monthly delivery rate adjustment.  Is that accurate?  You are not proposing that?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  If I could ask you to flip back to your evidence at page 27?

MR. McINTOSH:  We have it.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  We're there.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, I have to catch up now.  I apologize, I just have to find my reference.

At the bottom of page 27, you talk about MDV re-establishment and three-point balancing.  Ms. Ruzycki, I think this is your area of testimony today.

Let me just read in the passage I am thinking of.  It is right at the bottom of page 27, starting in the second sentence of that last paragraph on the page:
"The GMG supports the implementation of mean daily volume MDV re-establishment with data that has been weather-normalized and the replication of the three-point balancing adopted by Union.  However, the three-point balancing and the weather-normalized MDV re-establishment must be completed in conjunction with each other."

Now, I take from that passage GMG to be advocating that three-point balancing should only be adopted by Enbridge in the event that MDV readjustment is also adopted, but not necessarily vice versa; that is, not necessarily would MDV re-establishment require that three-point balancing also be adopted.  Is that a fair interpretation?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Maybe if I could just clarify, we believe the MDV re-establishment is a critical issue, and the three-point balancing is a suggestion.  We believe the two should be linked, but we definitely believe the MDV is a critical issue that needs to be resolved, whether or not the three-point balancing is agreed to.

MR. MONDROW:  Indeed, the MDV re-establishment proposal by Enbridge could be implemented without complication, even if the three-point balancing mechanism is not adopted; correct?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  But I understand your concern to be that if three-point balancing were adopted without MDV re-establishment, that would simply exacerbate a current problem which you spoke about this morning?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Definitely, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Just on that problem, Ms. Ruzycki, my notes reflect that you characterized the problem as being a situation where a customer, under GDAR entitlements, moves away from a gas marketer, but the marketer still, absent MDV re-establishment, has to bring in gas to serve that customer that it no longer serves?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  I would suggest the problem is even worse, because now if that customer moves to another marketer, that other marketer is also bringing in gas to serve that same customer?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes, that's correct.  And that can happen -- it may not be just one or two marketers.  It can happen where it is one, two or three marketers, depending on mobilities brought about -- changes can happen at whatever frequency a customer would opt for.

MR. MONDROW:  And so that concern, in respect of MDV re-establishment is not logically related to whether or not Enbridge should adopt three-point balancing?  That is the three-point balancing proposal that you are making, or the position that you are taking into respect of Enbridge adopting that, doesn't fall out of Enbridge adopting the MDV re-establishment?

MS. RUZYCKI:  No.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  If I could take you back again to your evidence at page 24 this time, please.

I said off the top I wouldn't ask you questions about MRAM, but I do want to ask you just a couple of clarifying questions, if I could.

You refer, on page 24, to an Ontario-wide reference price.  This is under section 3.1.  I gather that you are there talking about an Ontario landed price, which would include any transportation costs that reflect -- that are reflected in a basis differential between two different geographic hubs or delivery points, Mr. McIntosh?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.  If I could add.  We think the full benefit of a reference price would be realized in a fully unbundled world.  But a reference price, transportation adjusted, as you aptly described, Mr. Mondrow, would, we think, potentially have some benefit with regards to customer benchmarking.

MR. MONDROW:  I was going to ask you -- I was going to take you to the next paragraph on page 24 which is under topic 3.2, which makes the point you just made, that you are unable to propose an Ontario landed reference price absent unbundling.

I wonder if you could just explain the link between those two concepts for me.

MR. McINTOSH:  Well, if I could cite an example, that being the Ohio marketplace which has a monthly price setting mechanism, they have chosen to use NYMEX as their reference price then plus a transportation differential, in Dominion east Ohio territory, it’s plus $1.40.  Vector would be different with that differential.  Columbia would be different again.

The relevant point being, is that there is a reference price to benchmark for consumers to have a reasonable expectation of what the commodity cost will be in the upcoming month.  So the differential meaning the transportation and storage and infrastructure need to get the gas from point A to point B, and then the necessity of storage.

MR. MONDROW:  All of those cost elements would be embedded in an Ontario landed reference price, wouldn't they?

MR. McINTOSH:  Ideally, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And so why do those services needs to be up bundled for an Ontario price to reflect those costs?

MR. McINTOSH:  Well, one of the thoughts we have had - and again, it is not in the prefiled evidence or trying to refine our concepts - is that you could have an -- all franchise areas could report the price and transportation adjusted back to Empress, a notional Ontario border price.  I mean there is many different ways to do it.

We wanted to introduce the concept that for a customer benchmark, and a customer education opportunity for them to make informed provider and consumption choice.  We think that would be helpful.

MR. MONDROW:  I understand that, but you say in your evidence under 3.2, the GMG was not able to propose implementation of a single Ontario-wide reference price in the absence of unbundling of storage and transportation, which had been removed from the scope of this proceeding.

And I don't understand the connection of unbundling to the ability to derive an Ontario landed reference price.  That's what I am asking you to explain.

MR. McINTOSH:  Okay.  Well, again, using the Ohio example, there are many different ways to deliver the gas to the consumers.

And that is market determined.  So part of it is much beyond the scope of this proceeding and even the OEB.  It is a structural change to a capacitor release issue on the TransCanada pipeline system.  So, much like my discussion earlier, we're trying to refine these issues down like the storage discussion where, if you had a true capacity release market, then you could necessarily price the delivered service to the customer in an Ontario-wide reference price.

So I understand your concern and your question, sir.  But we are trying to suggest that the concept is not in and of itself flawed.

MR. MONDROW:  What you're saying in that passage I read to you, as I am now understanding you, Mr. McIntosh, is that you would need some price transparency on that transportation component in order to be able to derive the Ontario landed reference price?

MR. McINTOSH:  That's correct.  And you know there's been references in some the material -- I don't have the reference in front of me -- but Union and Enbridge cited that they don't cite, they don't exclusively source their supply from western Canada -- the vast majority of it, but there is Alliance/Vector, there is some Panhandle, Henry Hub, there is a mixture, a supply portfolio and rightly so.

But to try to answer your question, yes, you need some transparency that that.

MR. MONDROW:  So I am looking at your response to Enbridge Interrogatory No. 9 which you can turn up, of course, if you wish to, part (b).  I just want to follow this through for one more moment to see if I can understand what you're saying.

Your response in part (b) says:
"The Ontario-wide reference price would reflect a uniform market reported reference price and the distributor would adjust the reference price, as necessary, to reflect the distinct supply portfolio of the distributor."


And it is that -- it is following that price, which I think was briefly touched upon with you earlier, through to the distributor-specific portfolio that I struggle a bit with.  If Ontario distributors necessarily receive gas in Ontario, how would you then have to modify or proceed with an Ontario wide reference price and then do a calculation to derive a utility- specific reference price?  Can you help me with that?

MR. McINTOSH:  Sir, is the example Union north versus Union south, is that -- would that be an appropriate example?

MR. MONDROW:  That helps, sure.

MR. McINTOSH:  Well clearly there is more infrastructure required to deliver gas -- not clearly, likely, more long-haul pipe needed to deliver gas into the Union south territory.

So in the absence of having a fully unbundled and capacitor-release market, there has to be some recognition, so that it is not punitive against the Union south performance versus Union north.  So it is really -- the key is the transportation adjustment and how we get to that transportation adjustment.

MR. MONDROW:  From whatever your pricing point is?

MR. McINTOSH:  And you could start with NYMEX or Dawn or Empress or ACCO or 12 other points, if you like.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, thank you.

One more question about your pricing, the pricing aspects of your evidence, and in particular, the gas and storage treatment which has been talked about a bit.

As I understand it, and just to paraphrase, your proposal as it's been developed through the proceeding is to blend the cost of gas and storage with the monthly WACOG in the winter and indeed the monthly WACOG and the price of gas in storage in the summer should be the same.

MR. McINTOSH:  That's correct, to be reflective of actual costs incurred.

MR. MONDROW:  So my question is:  How would the price resulting from that blending treatment be different, in your view, from a 12-month forecast of price?

MR. McINTOSH:  Well, I will reiterate.  It would be based on actual cost, not a forward view.  The only forward view would be a prompt month index, reported during mid-week or five or so days prior to the actual flow of the gas, as opposed to the current methodology employed.

MR. MONDROW:  But if you changed prices monthly based on a 12-month forecast, would that be very different from your proposal to have a prompt month forecast and then a storage blending?

MR. McINTOSH:  I believe it would.  That would be a pretty exhaustive analysis.  And I think the right answer would be likely.  But I can't say with any surety.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  One more informational question, if you could help us.  I don't think this has been asked anywhere on the record.  But you do say in your interrogatory responses -- and I think Mr. Newcombe clarified this morning -- that in Alberta the regulator prohibits the regulated supplier, the default supplier, from using storage.

Can you just explain why that is?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  I can try.  Back in 2001, there was a generic proceeding quite similar to this, that examined a number much market structure issues.  One of the biggest ones being, what should default supply look like with the coming of market opening.  I mean keeping in mind there was an open market for natural gas since 1995, but there had been absolutely no take-up just because of the way it had been designed.

Out of that came a number of directives, I guess, as to how it should be.  It should be priced on month ahead, short term, change monthly, and no storage, no long-term contracts.  The Board at that time felt that all of those things would be inhibiting factors for the development of a competitive retail market.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Thank you very much, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  Mr. DeRose?
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Panel, my name is Vince DeRose.  I am counsel on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

I had only two quick snappers for you.  It is now up to three after Mr. Mondrow's cross-examination.  So hopefully I won't undo what he has just done.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It should have gone in the other direction.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, it usually does.

In terms of your proposed single Ontario-wide reference price, is it my understanding that until storage and transportation is fully unbundled, you would not be in a position to propose a single Ontario-wide reference price?  Is that...

MR. McINTOSH:  Not necessarily.  I go back to the transportation adjustment, my Union south versus Union north example, where there is some transparency into the rates charged to move gas from, I will say, Alberta down to the appropriate franchise areas.

It could be derived, if, you know -- if MRAM is adopted by this Board, then potentially all franchise areas could report back to the Board and the Board could do that.  Again, I will reiterate the concept, we think, has merit.  We think that there are some challenges to come up with a fully fair and transparent way to calculate it.

MR. DeROSE:  To a certain extent, what you are describing, is that not a reference price calculated by the utility that reflects the utility-specific gas supply mix?  Is that not what, to a certain extent, the utilities are doing now in the absence of full unbundling?

MR. McINTOSH:  They are, with the exception of the actual costs involved.  They're taking the 12-month forward price view.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So subject to whether it should be 12 months or a month, in the absence of full unbundling, the reference price should reflect each utility's specific circumstances.  Is that -- are we in agreement on that?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.

Secondly, panel, this morning in your introductory statements, you discussed the rationale or need for weather-normalized MDV re-establishment as -- I may be paraphrasing here, but the cause or the driver for the need for MDV re-establishment is the migration of customers between pools; is that correct?

MS. RUZYCKI:  The migration of customers between marketers.

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  Sorry.  When I refer to "pools", between pools operated by different marketers?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And...

MS. RUZYCKI:  Sorry, there are other reasons that there's attrition in pools.  It could be that a customer moves out of the area, or moves out of the province or moves to another -- for example, moves from Union to Enbridge.  There is also gas, et cetera.

MR. DeROSE:  Oh, okay.  Well, thank you.

And those pools are made up of residential customers; correct?

MS. RUZYCKI:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  So is it fair to say that -- or my inference from that, that the driver or the class of customers that are driving the need for MDV re-establishment are the residential customers?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. RUZYCKI:  There could be some small commercial customers in those classes, other than just residential.  So there could be some bankruptcies, et cetera.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  In terms of the small commercial, would you know -- I mean, for instance, would that be a rate 6 customer?  Do you know what rates that would include for Union and Enbridge?

MS. RUZYCKI:  I don't specifically know the -- which rates they would include.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But it presumably wouldn't include large commercial manufacturing, industrial customers?

MS. RUZYCKI:  No.  Typically those would not include -- they would be an individual pool themselves.  Those customers would be.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.

And my final question relates to -- in your evidence, you have identified concerns about customer confusion in a number of areas, one being billing terminology and the other -- and I am -- that -- customers not being able to make informed consumption decisions and provider choices.

Now, when you are referring to those customers that, in your opinion, are suffering from this confusion, are you referring primarily to residential customers?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  It would be typically small volume customers.  Sometimes there is not a whole lot of distinction between residential and, say, a small commercial, small industrial, mom and mop kind of shop.

MR. DeROSE:  Fair enough.  But in terms of what I would describe as large commercial manufacturers or industrial customers, you wouldn't experience -- well, we will start with the bill terminology.  You don't have a lot of customer confusion about bill terminology with large customers that would, for instance, compose their own pool?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  No, I don't expect you would.  I think customers of a certain size probably have folks that are dedicated to their own energy management and procurement, and those people would be hopefully fairly sophisticated.

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  Would my assumption be correct or would you agree that the same thing can be said for those customers who, again, are their own pool, in terms of pricing information and obtaining the information that they need to make an informed decision about who their providers should be?  Again, they have access to it and they would have the people that could provide them with that information?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Again, I would expect that to the extent that energy costs make up a large component of their input costs, that they would have dedicated folks.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.  Those are all of my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Mr. Quinn.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir.  My name is Dwayne Quinn.  I represent the Federation of Rental Housing Providers of Ontario.  And if I could ask the panel if you could turn up FRPO Interrogatory No. 6 to the Gas Marketers Group, please?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, I missed that reference.

MR. QUINN:  FRPO Interrogatory No. 6 to the Gas Marketers Group. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Just as we move into this area, I just want to get clarity with the undertaking you provided this morning, K3.1, that had the GMG proposal added as a column on the far right.

Under the area cost allocation, you have put a position of no change.  Am I correct to assume that that is no change as it pertains to the incremental costing for system gas and direct purchase management?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.  When we developed that position, we were thinking specifically of things like the DPAC fees and the system gas fees, and that, and the fact that they're done on an incremental basis, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I just wanted to get the proper scope to your position.

In the interrogatory response to my client, you provided a response to -- of carrying costs to inventory, that the carrying costs of system gas inventory should be recovered from system gas customers.  For clarity, it reads:
"Gas required for load balancing should be recovered from all consumers."

Would I be correct in assuming that your principle here is those who benefit from the cost bear the cost?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.  Those who either directly benefit or are capable of being benefitted, yes.  I think it's a pretty standard utility rate design principle.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So for the area of load balancing, pool system gas and direct purchase customers would bear that cost?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes, sir.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Now, I understand we have had some discussion this morning around load balancing, but I want to be specific to an area of Enbridge Gas Distribution's policies relative to direct purchase balancing agreements.  I just want to ask the panelists to ensure, is there -- is the panel aware of the consequences of having more than 20 days of MDV in the banked gas account at the end of a contract year?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  I recognize the panelists weren't here for day 1 as I enquired in this area with the Enbridge panel.  But would you agree that the prices provided for buying gas, for the days in excess of 20 days MDV, are designed to be a discount to the market price, and they're designed to incent the direct purchase customer to balance their own pool?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes, that's correct.  I believe they're set at 80 percent.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  As we spent some time in the area of other costs associated with it, but the 80 percent is accurate.

The question to the panel I guess is:  Where the utility has acquired an economic benefit from notionally getting the gas at a discounted price, in your view, should the benefits accrue to the load balancing pool to defray the costs for all customers or to the system gas pool?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Our view would be that it should accrue to all customers through whatever it was you said.

MR. QUINN:  What I had said -- to be clear for the record, to the load balancing pool, which both system gas customers and direct customer purchases would benefit from?

MR. NEWCOMBE: Yes, that's what I meant.

MR. QUINN:  That would be in line with the same principle of who bears the cost, pays the cost.



MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Now, it’s clear to me I will have to clarify our concerns in argument, but to the extent the Board may determine that an economic benefit currently accrues to the system gas pool, would the Gas Marketers Group support a change to the accounting so the benefit accrues to load balancing pool instead of system gas pool?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  So if we are talking about the specific example you just said and if we fully understood all of the, you know, ramifications of it and all of the principles behind it, it sounds like something we would support.

MR. QUINN:  To make sure we have clarity for the record, in a situation where the current practice of the utility accrues a benefit to the system gas pool, why would you see that that benefit should be spread amongst all customers?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. NEWCOMBE:  So as I understand it, this is not a benefit that comes to the utility or utility consumers through solely system gas customers.  It is a benefit that will accrue direct purchase customers.  So I think, in that situation, it would only be appropriate benefit should flow back through all distribution customers.


MR. QUINN:  I see.  I will ask one more question, I think I can get clarity.  If it were determined that the benefit of discounted gas was benefitting the system gas pool, would you see that as a potential area of cross subsidization between direct purchase and system gas?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  I believe so, yes.  It sounds to me like an area that should be examined by the Board when they look at cost allocation issues, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Ryder.

MR. RYDER:  We have no questions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Ms. Girvan.

MS. GIRVAN:  No thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Oh, I beg your pardon, Mr. Manning.

MR. MANNING:  I do have some questions still sir, thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Manning:

MR. MANNING:  I was going to say good morning, panel, but we are into the afternoon.  My name is Paul Manning, I represent the Low Income Energy Network, and I have a few remaining questions for you.


If I can turn you first of all to paragraph 2.1 of your evidence -- forgive me, 2.4 of your evidence.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you have a page reference, Mr. Manning?  Would that be page 24?

MR. MANNING:  This is -- forgive me, sir, this is on page 24 of 31.  It is the question, the response to the question, What alternative frequencies should be used by natural gas distributors.  It is where you suggest the MRAM.

Just before I ask you a question about that, I wanted to read to you -- you don't have it in front of you, but it is fairly common knowledge, from section 2 of the Ontario Energy Board Act which tells us and the Board what the Board's statutory objectives are.  It says this:


"The Board, in carrying out its responsibilities under this or any other act in relation to gas, should be guided by the following objectives."


I will just read you the first two:

"1.  To facilitate competition in the sale of gas to users."


And I imagine that much of your evidence and argument has gone towards that.  And the second one is:
"To protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the reliability and quality of gas service."


Are you familiar with those statutory objectives?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Familiar might be a bit of a strong word, but --

MR. MANNING:  But you are aware of them?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.

MR. MANNING:  Thank you for the distinction.

So turning to your evidence, paragraph 2.4.  You talk about the MRAM and, in particular, you say that intra-month volatility would be captured in the PGVA account and cleared in the next month's rates.

And as I understand it, that really just means that more or less consumers would be exposed to the monthly volatility in the cost of gas.  Have I understood that --

MR. NEWCOMBE:  They would be exposed to the monthly pricing, yes.

MR. MANNING:  Right.

MR. McINTOSH:  And I would add potentially the daily pricing, should it be an abnormally cold period.

MR. MANNING:  Thank you.

MR. McINTOSH:  So some spot purchases.

MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  That's a helpful grasp.  It is monthly prices --

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. MANNING:  -- for the cost of gas?

And we have heard, in evidence and in cross-examination from both Enbridge and Union's panels, that they have concluded from their analyses that MRAM would produce a significantly greater volatility in consumer prices than the QRAM does.  Would you agree with that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McINTOSH:  If you look at Union evidence, Exhibit IR 6.1, page 3 of 3.  If you look at the second line.  I will just wait.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Our screen is not keeping us up to date here.  I wonder if you could repeat the reference.

MR. McINTOSH:  I'm sorry, Exhibit -- Union evidence, Exhibit IR 6.1, page 3 of 3.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fine, thank you.

MR. McINTOSH:  Line 2.  Again, this isn't exactly the MRAM but it is a monthly price change.  Line 2, S, number 1, month over year, they came up with the stability -- they coined stability 2 percent less stable but 21 percent more accurate in price.

So I don't know if that addressed your question actually.

MR. MANNING:  No, not really.

MR. McINTOSH:  Okay.

MR. MANNING:  I heard, having asked both panels this, they're saying MRAM has significantly greater volatility.  Are you saying that it doesn't?

MR. McINTOSH:  I'm saying not necessarily so, because it is completely incumbent upon the volatility in the wholesale marketplace.  If you enter a period of stable wholesale prices under our proposal, that would manifest itself into stable prices for consumers.

Should you get a rather extreme volatile year like last year, the costs are still -- I mean, the utility is still going to have a revenue requirement, given their buying protocols, of all monthly index all the time.  So they might have thought they were going to spend $100 million for calendar 2008, but if it turned out to be $200 million, there will be recovery.  And we see that in some of the rather large rate riders associated with that.

So to be clear, under their buying protocol and under -- there will be -- the volatility is dependent upon the wholesale marketplace for natural gas.

MR. MANNING:  Yes.  I understand there would be some volatility, but what was being said by those panels was that quite clearly there would be -- from a consumer price point of view, the bills that the consumers open, there would be a greater impact of volatility arising from an MRAM than there would from a QRAM.

I mean, if you disagree, that's fine and please say so.  That is exactly what I am trying to elicit here, as to whether...

MR. McINTOSH:  I think, you know, we concede the frequency would change from four to 12.  The volatility not necessarily so, because of the wholesale argument, so a long-winded way of saying I disagree.

MR. MANNING:  Okay.  So perhaps I can then approach it from a slightly different perspective.  In cross-examination, the Enbridge panel agreed with me that, from a ratepayer standpoint, the main purpose of the adjustment mechanism, be it QRAM or MRAM - in their case at present the QRAM - was to provide the cheapest rates to consumers consistent with the minimum volatility.

Does that sound like a fair description of what the mechanism is supposed to do to you?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  That may be the criteria that Enbridge and/or Union uses.

MR. MANNING:  Right.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  So you would have to balance not changing your rate as frequently with carrying large amounts in your deferral accounts and having those carrying costs accrue to customers, which they will end up paying.  So you would have to make some trade-off.

I presume that their rate designs have been vetted in front of the Board and that is the trade-off that's been come to to date.

MR. MANNING:  So if you accept that is their premise, at least, then what they are seeking to do is to provide prices to consumers, that has a smoothing effect, a cushioning of the major peaks and troughs in the cost of gas to which they would otherwise be exposed?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Sure.  And think I that is what the QRAM has done, and I will take your word for it that that's what sort of the design behind the QRAM was to do.

Now, that comes with a cost.  As I said, I mean, there are carrying costs on those deferral balances.  They will go both directions presumably, but to the extent there is - what is it - negative balances, I guess, there is a cost to consumers from that.  There is a cost to consumers from carrying storage balances, from having, you know, long haul pipe.  So all of these things get looked at as a trade-off.

I just wanted to finish by saying that now we're in this process, which I think the Board has a number of issues in front of it, and one was, what should this look like in the future?  And so that is why we filed our evidence to say you don't have to stay with the QRAM, that here is an opportunity to look at other things, but...

MR. MANNING:  No, I understand that.  Obviously this is the forum in which you would want to present such a situation.

But having regard to the statutory objectives in the act, I can understand why all of those arguments go to objective number 1, increasing competition

MR. NEWCOMBE: Right.

MR. MANNING:  And I can understand why that would benefit your business position.  I am trying hard to understand how the proposal benefits the ratepayers, because if the way in which the utilities are currently conducting themselves is one that is designed to produce cheapest cost, consistent with least volatility, by which I am describing here as a smoothing effect in the bills that they see, I am wondering how the MRAM equals or improves on that position from the ratepayers' point of view.

MR. McINTOSH:  Sir, if I can refer you to page 2 of our evidence, in preparation for -- or as we were preparing for this, we reviewed some of the previous Board direction, and, in the second paragraph under the bullet points, the Board had communicated that the regulated gas price should be viewed as the default supply by consumers, accurately reflect market price - and we make the case that's the costs they will incur - and the retroactive adjustments related to the PGVA should be kept at a minimum.

So, I mean, with those two goals in mind, that was part of the thinking that led to this.

So, I mean, I will reiterate my wholesale -- the volatility will be reflected somehow some way in the price.  If it is the Board's decision that a QRAM addresses all of these balancing acts, as you rightly described, then so be it.

But, again, we think that this is a more reflective market price with the mitigation of the deferral account treatment.

MR. MANNING:  Yes, I understand that.  But when you talk about more reflective of actual cost - I will read in month on month - that means that the MRAM, as I am understanding it, would have less of a smoothing effect in the way I have described it and understood what the utilities do with QRAM -- less of a smoothing effect in the bills that are seen by the ratepayer.

So I don't think you are saying anything different from that.  You are saying, We're trying hard to reflect the actual cost of gas, and if that volatility means that it is seen in the bills of the ratepayer month on month, then so be it.  Have I understood that correctly from you?

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. MANNING:  And so what I am still not understanding is if it is correct that the way the utilities currently operate QRAM is intended to provide the smoothing-out effect that I have been talking about, I am still not hearing you say that the MRAM could produce something as smooth, for want of a better word.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  And I don't think you will hear us say that, sir.

If that is one of the principles behind the QRAM, is to have this smoothing effect, I can accept that.  As I said before, we are here in this proceeding to examine alternatives, and maybe at the end of the day we won't change anything or the Board will decide not to change anything.  I don't know.

MR. MANNING:  Yes.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  One thing I didn't hear in your first two principles for the OEB was -- in that second one that you mentioned was that they were to take any consideration of smoothing out pricing impacts for consumers.  I didn't hear anything with respect to reduction of volatility there as one of their sort of mandates.

MR. MANNING:  I am not suggesting that it is.  I am just pointing out not only the facilitation of competition in sale of gas to users, but also protection of the interests of consumers with respect to prices is an objective, as well.

Then I am trying to understand what the QRAM currently gives to consumers.  I am trying to compare with it the proposal that you are putting forward.

So if it is -- you have answered that, and if it's not producing or intended to produce a smoothing effect in that way, perhaps you could just describe what are the benefits, from a consumers' point of view, that come from the MRAM.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Well, I guess one would be not having to incur the costs related to -- the carrying costs for large negative PGVA balances when they occur.

A second one would be not to tie up a bunch -- have a bunch of much of their money tied up when the PGVA balance is positive.  And, yes, they may get that money back with some carrying costs, but, nonetheless, the utility has the use of their money for some time.  So there are a couple of advantages.


When you carry long-term PGVA balances, then I think, you know, in theory, you should also have exit or entry payments if you are coming -- if customers are allowed to come into or out of system gas supply, so in the situation where a -- or the utility has a large amount of customer's money built up in a PGVA, if a customer then signs a contract with an alternative supplier they're leaving behind some of their money.  So that's another benefit you have, if your PGVA balances are trued up.

At the same time, if the utility's got a negative balance in their PGVA, you know, Gary would probably tell you when a customer signs with an alternative supplier, that the -- they should have to write a cheque with an exit fee to leave.  That doesn't happen today, and we are not suggesting it should.  But I mean, I think, theoretically, those are the kinds of things that are a benefit to consumers.

MR. MANNING:  Okay.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  The other thing that happens is you are not having this smoothing effect impact your current day decisions, and if consumers see a lot of volatility -- they're not seeing that volatility, I should say, under the current QRAM of the underlying wholesale market.  They may not even be aware that gas prices change on a continental basis every day or every month. They may make inappropriate decisions with respect to energy efficiency measures or conservation.  They're just not being exposed to what it is actually costing them in that month.

As I said before, nothing is perfect.  But when you have this smoothing impact and you are paying an average rate, so you are paying presumably something less than the real cost in the winter, and something more than the real cost in the summer, by paying something less than the real cost in the winter, you may decide, Well, I'm not going to bother insulating or buying that high efficiency furnace, because gas prices aren't that high in the winter anyway, when in fact they really are.  You will just be paying for it sometime down the road through the PGVA.

MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  That leads me very conveniently almost as though we discussed it but we haven't, into my last set of questions.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  I am here to be helpful, sir.

MR. MANNING:  And you have been, thank you.

If I could just take you to page 25 of your evidence.  I wonder if it is page 25.  Do forgive me, it is page 22.

I'm trying to be environmentally friendly by dispensing with the hard copy, but my technology abilities have fallen short.  Thank you for bearing with me.

This is a couple of paragraphs that you have been referred to previously but I have a question from a slightly different perspective.  This is the last section, fairness and equity among customer groups.

You say, you talk again about monthly forecasting and disposition.  And you say that it will more closely align the cost and benefits of gas procurement with those that consume gas in the period, which I think was the point that you just finished off at.

I take it, in a simplistic way, that that means if you use gas in the summer, you can buy gas at summer prices more or less. Is that -- is that what you are meaning?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Sorry, could you say that again.

MR. MANNING:  You are trying to say somebody who uses gas in the summertime will pay prices for the cost of gas incurred at summertime prices?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Oh, yes, yes.

MR. MANNING:  So in terms of the paradigm that I have put to you as being my understanding of the position of the utilities, of cheapest cost consistent with least volatility, I am just wondering if the consumer isn't better served by a utility that is able to buy extensively in the summer and store and spread the benefit of what is usually a cheaper price across the year.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Well, but that storage, sir, won't come free. So there will be costs, asset related costs of owning or leasing the storage field.  There is the cost of injection.  There is costs associated with withdrawal, there is still pipe required to and from the storage field.

So I think in, probably in a theoretical world, the summer/winter differential in gas prices reflects the costs of storage, the costs of the alternative.  You know, if storage was free, producers wouldn't be able to charge any more in the wintertime.

So I think there is a match there between, in theory, between the costs of storage and the summer/winter differential.

So I think from my perspective, the answer to that question is, it's probably the same thing.  It's probably no different.  Yes, you may buy cheaper gas in the summer, but the costs of your storage should offset you just buying that gas as you need it, if you are able to just buy it as you need it.

MR. MANNING:  And that storage cost isn't a function of load balancing in any event?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  I think here what we're talking about is the ability to supply the needs out of storage.  I think we got into some trouble before talking about load balancing and system supply, so I think we are talking here about the storage inventory that's required for system supply, irrespective of any load balancing.

MR. MANNING:  Okay.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  I think.

MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  That's all of my questions, thank you sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Manning.

Ms. Campbell?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Campbell:


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

The first thing that I would like to start with is really just to clarify two things.  One is an Enbridge position and one is part of the GMG proposal, so you are going to flip a bit.  So I apologize for this.

If you could start off, panel, by pulling the prefiled evidence, binder E.  I would like you to go to page 27, 28, probably 28 of the Gas Marketers Group.  And starting around page --

MS. RUZYCKI:  Can we just get the reference again, please.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Sorry.  First of all, your evidence, please, which is the Gas Marketers Group prefiled evidence, January 21st, 2009.  If I could ask you to go to page 28.  My questions are going to focus on load balancing.

So page 28 of the Gas Marketers Group evidence.  Then I would also like you to pull out Union's evidence.  I apologize, Enbridge's evidence -- as if their names are similar.

What I would like to you do is, it would start, I guess in the Union --- at the very bottom of page 35 but really focus more on pages 36 and 37.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry.  Is that Union or Enbridge?

MS. CAMPBELL:  Enbridge.  Enbridge.

There is going to be a bit of flipping, as I said I apologize for that, but there is not an easy way around that.

What I understand GMG's position to be is that there should be standardization of load balancing mechanisms.  That's correct?  Is that GMG's position?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  And that the load balancing mechanisms of each utility should be standardized also?

MS. RUZYCKI:  As in standardized as in the same process or...?

MS. CAMPBELL:  Married as closely as possible.

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes, yes.

MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So as close to the same as possible.

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Just on page 28, under 8.2 of your evidence, GMG's evidence, there is a discussion of load balancing and the mechanisms that are used.

I am just looking at the first paragraph:

"The mechanisms that should be used by natural gas distributors for load balancing is a combination of weather-normalized MDV re-establishment during the contract term, and three-point balancing where the utility must also be in balance at three checkpoints."


MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Then there is a brief discussion of what Union does, and a discussion of what Enbridge does.

Enbridge offers a few balancing tools, and then there is a description of what they do, and then if I could take you down -- because what I really want to discuss are what are characterized by GMG as shortfalls in Enbridge's mechanisms.

So if you go down that paragraph that said, "Enbridge however offers a few balancing tools", and if you could march down to roughly the seventh sentence, the line that starts "or negative balance position", there is then a sentence that says:
"Again, these are not without shortfalls and have been frequently unavailable due to business and weather restrictions."

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes.

MS. CAMPBELL:  When I look at that, it strikes me that the evidence that GMG has filed with regard to what Enbridge does is more critical of what Enbridge does than the mechanisms used by Union.

MS. RUZYCKI:  I don't know that I would say more critical.  I would say that there are shortfalls with the tools that have been provided, in that they're not available at certain points in time, as Mr. Cass and I had the discussion this morning, that during peak winter periods, there are typically -- suspension is not available.  Makeup is at the utility's discretion, as well.

Some of the items are also, in our view, cost prohibitive.  They do have inventory transfers you can do, but in many cases they are cost prohibitive.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Are some of the -- for lack of a better word, the shortfalls that you are talking about, are they not because of certain operational restrictions that Enbridge has?

MS. RUZYCKI:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Under GMG's proposal, when you are looking for standardization, how is Enbridge supposed to overcome the operational difficulties or shortfalls?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  I guess the short answer to your question is we don't specifically know what Enbridge will or won't do to overcome any particular operational challenges.

I think what we could offer is that, you know, based on our experience, again, not maybe directly with Enbridge and Union, but based on our experience working in utilities, if utilities want to overcome an operational challenge to change their business processes, they can usually do it.

So it depends a lot on their motivation, I think.  If they want to, they will.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, that leads me to the section of the Enbridge evidence that I would just like to discuss with you briefly.

I guess what I really -- what I would like to focus you on, based on the answer you just gave me, starts at page 36.  It is paragraphs 118 through 121.

Specifically, I think the operational problems that Enbridge would have is best focussed on in paragraph 119, where they talk about why they can't, for example, offer interruptible service and what occurs, specifically the limitations that they have because of the nature of their franchise.

And in the middle of the paragraph of 119:
"In Enbridge's case, interrupting the suspension of a customer in an area hundreds of kilometres from the trading centre would create difficult transportation challenges for the customer and therefore risk to the gas distributor for customers failing to comply with an interruption requirement."

I guess you just said to me that if a utility wants to offer something, they can overcome challenges.  Again, operationally, how would they overcome this challenge?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Well, again, I think the folks at Enbridge would be far more familiar with the operation of their system than we are, so I don't know if we would be able to offer much specific advice in how they would overcome this specific challenge.

MS. CAMPBELL:  So I think what you are saying to me is that standardization can only go so far, because there are certain operational issues that arise that you don't have knowledge of that may, in fact, limit the amount of standardization that can occur?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Without any specific examples, I think that is probably a fair statement, sure.

MS. CAMPBELL:  I apologize.  I am trying to make sure that I don't retill very plowed soil.  I am not even a farming girl.  That was pretty good.

What I would like to move to now is the Natural Gas Forum excerpt.  Now, you don't have it, panel.  Neither of the panels have it yet.  This was distributed two days ago via e-mail to all of those in the room, and Mr. Mukherji has a copy.

Now, needless to say, I have not produced the entire Natural Gas Forum report.  It wasn't necessary.  What I have done is reproduced the face page and the entire section on pricing mechanism that ends up leading us here today.

What I wanted to focus on specifically with the panel was the Board's conclusions.

Before we do that, we should probably mark this as an exhibit.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Any concerns about this from any party?

MR. HOAKEN:  No, thank you.

MR. MUKHERJI:  That's Exhibit K3.3.
Exhibit No. K3.3:  Natural Gas Forum report, face page and section on pricing mechanism.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Specifically, page 68 is the excerpt that I am looking at.  The boldfaced title is "The Board's Conclusions". The paragraph opens with this statement:
"In determining the appropriate pricing structure for regulated gas supply, the Board must consider the trade-off between a price signal that accurately reflects market prices and price stability."

On the next page, in the first full paragraph, after discussing various concerns of the Board, the Board makes the statement, and this would be the third sentence in:
"The Board is not of the view that a spot price pass-through would be appropriate because of the potential for volatility that would result."

So my question to you is that -- is given that the statements that the Board has made with regard to the need to balance and consider the trade-off between a price signal that accurately reflects market prices and price stability, and then expresses concerns about price volatility, how does the monthly price-setting method that you have proposed - GMG has proposed - address those issues, the trade-off and the price volatility?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  I don't know that it necessarily does address the trade-off.  I think the trade-off still needs to be considered and decided on by the Board.

What we have done, though, and I think we have said many times, is simply offer up some alternatives to the existing QRAM process that we believe, for a whole bunch of good reasons -- and we haven't looked at it solely as a trade-off between volatility and the other thing, price.

So we have looked as it for a number of reasons that we think would enhance the competitive market and provide a better signal to consumers.  We haven't looked at it solely from that perspective, but appreciate that that is something the Board is going to have to consider.

MS. CAMPBELL:  And just quickly, there was a handout today, K3.2, the Manitoba Utilities excerpt, that was used by Mr. Cass.

And my last question simply relates to a statement that was made by the BCUC that is quoted in this decision.  I am looking at page 78 of the excerpt.


I am specifically focussing on the very last sentence of the excerpt from the BCUC letter L-5-01.  That sentence reads:

"The Commission finds that a quarterly process for adjusting gas cost rates would provide a good price signal to customers, would help to reduce the size of the required rate changes, would help to keep the GCRA to manageable levels, and would be less onerous administratively."


First of all, would you agree that sending a good price signal, reducing the size of required rate changes, keeping accounts to manageable levels and being less administratively onerous are good objectives?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.

MS. CAMPBELL:  And is it your position that a monthly process would achieve all of those four considerations?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  It certainly could, yes.  As far as a good price signal, I think that is probably in the eye of the beholders.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  So, you know, some people might view a five-year fixed price as a good price signal.  Other people are, you know, appropriate with a monthly.  Help to reduce the size of the required rate changes.  That's going to depend on underlying wholesale commodity costs, what the rate changes are over time.  So I don't know monthly versus quarterly versus annually.  You may get bigger rate changes from quarterly or annually than you do from monthly; you may not.

Help keep the gas cost recovery account to manageable levels.  I would suggest that updating that and calculating it so it is zeroed out at the end of the month would keep it smaller than letting it accrue for three to six months or 12 months.

Less onerous administratively.  I mean, I work for a utility.  We used to change our gas prices twice a year, then seasonally, then monthly.  It was pretty indifferent.  We didn't hire a whole department worth of people to do it.  So it is not an administrative burden the way it is done in Alberta today, it is very mechanical.  You file it.  The Commission reviews it.

So they're all worthy objectives.  I am just not sure that, you know, staying with the QRAM versus a MRAM versus something else accomplishes any of those any better or any worse.

MS. CAMPBELL:  So in other words the differences are quite subtle?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  They may be.  They may be.  They may be worse in one way.

I mean, I think there has been evidence on the record here that suggests that shortening the short term forecast frequency and doing the gas price forecast every month is some, I forget the percentage, 21 percent more accurate or something like that.  I think it was in Enbridge, I think Union -- yes.  I get as confused as you do over the names.  They're all the same.

[Laughter]


MR. NEWCOMBE:  It was Union that filed this that suggested that the --

MS. CAMPBELL:  They're all the same, aren't they?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  I worked for a big faceless utility.  Yes, we are all the same.

[Laughter]


MR. NEWCOMBE:  But, you know, that suggests that updating the price forecast taking a shorter-term forecast view is much more accurate.  You know, so on that basis, going back to, you know, the stuff out of the Natural Gas Forum, if you are taking a shorter-term forecast outlook maybe now is the time to revisit the pricing methodology as well.  I think that is contained in this excerpt from the Forum, as well.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Would you agree with me, just talking about administrative issues just briefly and you raised the number of people that -- the faceless utilities that indicated they would have to hire.  I believe it was some astronomical figure - you and I can discuss that later.  Am I correct your prefiled evidence at page 23 -- you don't need to turn this up -- it is, you say, that it is a lot more efficient in Alberta and it takes fewer people.

But you would agree with me and the evidence is pretty clear that in Alberta they don't have to worry about things like storage and load balancing.  So would that not affect the amount of work that it would have to be done if you did a MRAM in Ontario?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  I don't believe so, no.  I mean, it's not difficult math.  I mean, you've got a number of supply sources.  One happens to be coming out of storage and it is at a price.  It's pretty simple spreadsheet stuff.

MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.  And on an interim basis, directed load balance on behalf of the utility up until October of 2008.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.  So the regulated supply, the system gas was performing the load balancing function for all of the pools.  So -- and it wasn't difficult.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay, so you think they might be exaggerating slightly?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  I am not saying that at all.

[Laughter]


MS. CAMPBELL:  Not that I would want to put words in your mouth.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  We are trying to give you the benefit of our experience.  When we went through it, it was fairly seamless and easy.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Hoaken, any redirect?
Re-Examination by Mr. Hoaken:


MR. HOAKEN:  Yes, just one point on that very last comment, Mr. Newcombe, you made.

You have conveyed, I think, the view of the GMG, that the costs that are to be associated with moving to monthly rate-setting in Ontario are not likely to be as significant as has been forecast by the utilities.

You have made reference to the experience in Alberta.  But is there anything more specific you can tell us about the Experience in Alberta and what bearing it might have on the actual costs that would be incurred in Ontario?

MR. SMITH:  Just one point.  In is, of course, an issue that ought to have been in evidence, if my friend wanted to lead this evidence he had an opportunity to do so and we would have had an opportunity to cross-examine on it.  We will have no such opportunity.  There will be no documentation.

So the Board can receive the evidence, but this is not proper re-examination.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Hoaken?

MR. HOAKEN:  Well, I am afraid I have to disagree with my friend because this very issue was raised.  You heard it yourself moments ago in cross-examination.  And I think it having been raised, and some implication perhaps having been made, that the GMG is not in a position to comment on the costs.  I think this is a fair area of enquiry.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If I understand Mr. Smith's point, it is that this subject matter could have been dealt with more completely in the evidence in-chief than was the case.

Now just hold on.  I think the Board will receive, allow you to ask this question.  We will note that there has not been a full opportunity to test this particular evidence, and that may have some implications for how we weigh the evidence at the end of the day.

MR. HOAKEN:  And that is certainly fine, and I leave it to the Board to decide if this is appropriate, but depending upon the answer, if my friends felt the need or had an interest in cross-examining on the answer, I would have no objection to that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Okay.  Well, thanks for that question, Mr. Hoaken.

There probably is one other area that we have some experience in, and I know that Mr. Smith was discussing with me this morning about whether we agreed or disagreed or took any issue or had any concerns with the cost estimates put forth by the utilities -- and I think I responded "no."

The one other area that we did have some experience with in Alberta was when we did go from the seasonal rate adjustments to monthly, and I know that part of the utility, Enbridge and Union cost estimates that they have put in, suggests or has -– contains a portion of increased call volumes and increased costs for their call centre.

All I can tell you, based on our experience in Alberta, that that didn't happen when we went to monthly changes from seasonal.  The same thing on electricity.  When those changes became much more frequent, again, we didn't see any uptick in our call volumes.

So you know, there may be at the end of the day, some costs that the utilities are looking at now and expecting that they may incur that, at least from our experience, didn't happen in Alberta and may or may not happen in Ontario.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you, those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Any cross-examination arising from that question?
Questions by the Board:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The panel has one question and I wonder if Mr. Newcombe or in consultation with your fellow panel members, if you could address this to some extent, even if as an undertaking, perhaps, some idea of the scope of the products that are being offered by the -- for direct purchase, or what kind of contract offerings you provide to the marketplace in terms of duration of contract and sort of relevant terms of contract, so that we have some idea as to the kind of offering that is out there.

Do you want to answer that now or do you need to take it as an undertaking?

MR. NEWCOMBE:  No, if you just give us a moment, sir, I think we can respond now.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sure.

[Witness panel consults]

MR. NEWCOMBE:  We know that there was -- your question was specific to Ontario; is that right?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Yes.  We know we had an IR response, which none of us can remember which one right now, that did partially answer this question.

But out there -- and it was really from the perspective of the members of the Gas Marketer Group, so it certainly didn't encompass the universe of offerings and suppliers that are out there today.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  But amongst ourselves, anyway, there are certainly fixed-price contracts in varying lengths from one to five years.  There are some seasonal products which fix the price in the winter and flow out in the summer.  I think there are products that have an element of green to them, which may be carbon neutral.

If we could only find the IR response, but that is kind of the range.  So it is a...

MR. HOAKEN:  I am just going to add, I can't take credit for having found it.  It was Mr. Mondrow, but it is Union interrogatory 3 of the GMG.

MR. NEWCOMBE:  Thank you.  So, as I said, you know, in summary, I think there are -- there's a range of fixed-price instruments out there.  There's some which contain an element of variability, and -- yes.  I think that about covers it, I think, as far as we are aware.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Thanks very much.

Are there any questions arising?

MR. HOAKEN:  No, thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  None?  I believe this concludes the evidentiary portion of the proceeding.

I would like to thank the panel for its assistance.  It has been very helpful to the Board in its consideration of these issues.  I would like to thank the parties for very capable and cordial conduct of the proceeding.  It has been both competent and cordial, which is very welcome.

Thanks to the court reporter for her indulgences.


And, with that, this proceeding will adjourn.  The Board has provided the schedule for written argument in this case, and we will look forward to reading them, and, upon completion of that portion, we will produce a decision as quickly as we can.

Thanks very much.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 1:15 p.m.
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